# Integrability and quench dynamics in the spin-1 central spin XX model

Long-Hin Tang<sup>1\*</sup>, David M. Long<sup>1†</sup>, Anatoli Polkovnikov<sup>1</sup>, Anushya Chandran<sup>1</sup> and Pieter W. Claeys<sup>2</sup>

1 Department of Physics, Boston University, 590 Commonwealth Ave., Boston, MA 02215, USA **2** Max Planck Institute for the Physics of Complex Systems, 01187 Dresden, Germany

\* lhtang@bu.edu, † dmlong@bu.edu

# Abstract

Central spin models provide an idealized description of interactions between a central degree of freedom and a mesoscopic environment of surrounding spins. We show that the family of models with a spin-1 at the center and XX interactions of arbitrary strength with surrounding spins is integrable. Specifically, we derive an extensive set of conserved quantities and obtain the exact eigenstates using the Bethe ansatz. As in the homogenous limit, the states divide into two exponentially large classes: bright states, in which the spin-1 is entangled with its surroundings, and dark states, in which it is not. On resonance, the bright states further break up into two classes depending on their weight on states with central spin polarization zero. These classes are probed in quench dynamics wherein they prevent the central spin from reaching thermal equilibrium. In the single spin-flip sector we explicitly construct the bright states and show that the central spin exhibits oscillatory dynamics as a consequence of the *semilocalization* of these eigenstates. We relate the integrability to the closely related class of integrable Richardson-Gaudin models, and conjecture that the spin-s central spin XX model is integrable for any s.

© Opyright L.-H. Tang et al. This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. Published by the SciPost Foundation.

Received 18-01-2023		
Accepted 22-05-2023		
Published 26-07-2023	updates	
doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.1	5.1.030	

# Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Overview of main results	3
3	Factorizable Richardson-Gaudin Hamiltonians	6
4	Conserved charges	8
5	Eigenstates	9
	5.1 Homogeneous limit	9
	5.2 The inhomogeneous model	11

6	Single excitation	15
	6.1 Multifractality and semilocalization	15
	6.2 Quench dynamics	16
7	Quenches to resonance with an unpolarized environment	18
	7.1 Prediction of late-time values under the HDA	19
	7.2 Comparison with the inhomogeneous model	21
8	Conclusion and discussion	23
A	Counting of states in the resonant homogeneous model	24
B	Expectation values at large system size under the HDA	25
С	Integrability in higher spin models	26
	C.1 Conserved charges far from resonance	26
	C.2 Classical limit	28
	C.3 Inhomogeneous Tavis-Cummings model	30
References		30

# 1 Introduction

Central spin models provide a minimal description for a central degree of freedom interacting with an environment of surrounding spins. They are ubiquitous in physics, and have recently gained increased attention with advances in quantum metrology and sensing [1-12]. In such setups the central degree of freedom is typically well controlled and can be used to sense or influence the environment. In solid-state quantum computing platforms, the central degree of freedom could be the spin associated with an electron (hole) in a quantum dot or that associated with a defect center in diamond, while the environment is composed of nuclear spins [13-18]. In cavity-QED systems on the other hand, the cavity acts as the central degree of freedom and the many atoms it interacts with form the environment [19-25].

On the theory side, central spin models have been widely investigated because of their underlying *integrability*. Integrability guarantees an extensive set of conserved quantities and allows all eigenstates to be exactly obtained using Bethe ansatz techniques, which has led to various studies of the equilibrium and dynamical properties in these models [10, 26–32]. For XXX interactions  $(S_0^x S_j^x + S_0^y S_j^y + S_0^z S_j^z)$  between the central spin (at site 0) and the environment spins (at sites *j*), the central spin model belongs to the class of Richardson-Gaudin models [33–36]. Such models are integrable for any value of the central spin and their exact solution has long been established.

In this work, we focus on a system where the central spin interacts with its environment through XX interactions. Such spin-flip terms  $(S_0^x S_j^x + S_0^y S_j^y) \propto (S_0^+ S_j^- + S_0^- S_j^+)$  naturally arise from dipolar couplings in nuclear magnetic resonance experiments [37–39], in nitrogen vacancy (NV) centers [40], and in certain quantum dots [41]. Some of the authors recently showed that the XX model with a central spin-1/2 particle is integrable with two classes of eigenstates: dark states, in which the central spin is maximally polarized along the *z*-axis and is unentangled with the environment, and bright states, in which the central spin is entangled

with the environment [31]. Subsequent work [42] showed that the spin-1/2 XX model remains integrable in the presence of an arbitrarily oriented magnetic field with emergent dark states (building on results in Refs. [31, 43, 44]). However, in all cases the exact solution strongly depends on the central spin being a spin-1/2 particle.

We here consider the case where a central spin-1 particle interacts with its environment through XX interactions. By explicitly constructing an extensive set of conserved charges and exact Bethe eigenstates, we establish the integrability of the spin-1 model. While the eigenstate structure is different from that of the spin-1/2 model, we can again identify different classes of bright and dark states. The bright and dark states have striking consequences on the dynamics of the central spin and prevent the central spin from equilibrating with its environment.

This work is structured as follows. In Sec. 2 we present an overview of the integrability of the spin-1 central spin model, detailing its conserved charges and eigenstates. Its integrability can be closely connected to the integrability of XXZ Richardson-Gaudin models, and in Sec. 3 we review some relevant results. These are then used in Sec. 4 to construct the conserved charges and discuss several simple limits. The exact eigenstates are constructed in Sec. 5. These eigenstates are similar to the eigenstates of the homogeneous model (where all couplings are set to be equal), which can be solved in terms of collective spin operators [45]. We therefore present the eigenspectrum for the homogeneous model before moving on to the inhomogeneous model. Following this theoretical analysis, we probe the (semi)localization properties of the eigenstates and the effect on quench dynamics in Sec. 6 in the limiting case of a single spin-flip excitation above the polarized ground state. Dynamics for quenches to resonance from a maximally mixed and unpolarized environment is presented in Sec. 7. We combine the known structure of the eigenstates and the exact solution at the homogeneous point to make predictions for the long-time values of central spin polarization and show that they retain memory of the initial state. Sec. 8 is reserved for conclusions.

While our construction now explicitly depends on the central spin being a spin-1 particle rather than spin-1/2, the integrability of both models suggests that the central spin model with XX interactions is integrable for arbitrary spin values  $s_0$ . We present three pieces of evidence in support of this conclusion in Appendix C. The first is a numerical calculation of the level spacing ratio distribution in the spin-3/2 model, exhibiting the Poissonian statistics expected in integrable models. The second is the integrability of the effective Hamiltonian in the limit of a large *z*-field on the central spin. Specifically, up to second order in the strength of the XX interactions, the effective Hamiltonian obtained by a Schrieffer-Wolff transformation is integrable for any value of the central spin. Third, numerical investigations of the corresponding classical (large  $s_0$ ) model—which can be simulated efficiently—show features of integrability. Integrability of the classical model would imply integrability at smaller  $s_0$  within a truncated Wigner approximation [46, 47].

Despite this evidence, proving integrability beyond the spin-1/2 and spin-1 cases remains an outstanding challenge. Establishing integrability in these models would be particularly interesting since, apart from the classical central spin model, another particular limit of this family is given by the inhomogeneous Tavis-Cummings model [19, 48], which is prevalent in cavity- and circuit-QED.

# 2 Overview of main results

The focus of this work is the central spin Hamiltonian

$$H = \omega_0' S_0^z + \Omega \sum_{j=1}^L S_j^z + \sum_{j=1}^L g_j \left( S_0^- S_j^+ + S_0^+ S_j^- \right), \tag{1}$$



Figure 1: Schematic illustration of the central spin-1 XX Hamiltonian. The central spin-1 particle interacts with an environment of surrounding spins (of any spin quantum number) through an inhomogeneous and anisotropic XX interaction with strength  $g_i$ . The field strength on the central spin is  $\omega_0$ .

describing a central spin-1 particle interacting with an environment of *L* surrounding spins through an inhomogeneous XX interaction. Both the interaction strengths  $g_j$  and the spin quantum numbers  $s_j$  of the surrounding environment particles can be chosen freely. The central spin and the environment spins are subject to external fields along the *z*-direction with strength  $\omega'_0$  and  $\Omega$  respectively. However, since the total *z* magnetization

$$S_{\text{tot}}^{z} = \sum_{j=0}^{L} S_{j}^{z}, \quad \text{with eigenvalues} \quad M \in \left\{-1 - \sum_{j=1}^{L} s_{j}, \dots, 1 + \sum_{j=1}^{L} s_{j}\right\}, \tag{2}$$

is conserved, only the detuning  $\omega_0 = \omega'_0 - \Omega$  governs the structure of the eigenstates. Indeed, a rotating frame transformation by  $e^{-i\Omega S_{tot}^z t}$  takes  $\omega'_0 \mapsto \omega_0$  and  $\Omega \mapsto 0$ , while leaving the eigenstates (which may be chosen to be eigenstates of  $S_{tot}^z$ ) unaltered. Without loss of generality, we work within this rotating frame, where the Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H = \omega_0 S_0^z + \left( S_0^- G^+ + S_0^+ G^- \right).$$
(3)

For convenience, we introduce the environment spin effective raising/lowering operators

$$G^{\pm} = \sum_{j=1}^{L} g_j S_j^{\pm}.$$
 (4)

This model is illustrated in Fig. 1.

We establish the integrability of the Hamiltonian (1) by constructing both an extensive set of conserved charges and the exact eigenstates. For each environment spin  $S_j$  there is an associated conserved charge given by

$$\tilde{Q}_j = \omega_0 S_0^z Q_j + \omega_0 \left( 2P_0 - 1 \right) S_j^z + \left\{ S_0^+ G^- + S_0^- G^+, P_0 Q_j \right\},\tag{5}$$

in which  $P_0 = 1 - (S_0^z)^2$  is a projector on central spin  $|0\rangle_0$ ,  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$  the anticommutator, and

$$Q_{j} = \frac{S_{j}^{+}S_{j}^{-} + S_{j}^{-}S_{j}^{+}}{2} + \sum_{k \neq j}^{L} \frac{g_{j}g_{k}}{g_{j}^{2} - g_{k}^{2}} \left(S_{j}^{+}S_{k}^{-} + S_{j}^{-}S_{k}^{+}\right) + 2\sum_{k \neq j}^{L} \frac{g_{k}^{2}}{g_{j}^{2} - g_{k}^{2}} S_{j}^{z}S_{k}^{z}.$$
 (6)

These conserved charges mutually commute and commute with the central spin Hamiltonian. Note that these charges consist of up to 4-body operators, whereas the conserved charges of the spin-1/2 central spin Hamiltonian consist of up to 2-body operators [31].

Two different classes of exact eigenstates with a fixed number of spin excitations can be constructed by adding excitations to the vacuum state, which is defined as the fully polarized state  $|\emptyset\rangle = \bigotimes_{j=1}^{L} |-s_j\rangle$  if the environment spin at site *j* has total spin  $s_j$ . Environment states are then given by unnormalized Bethe states

$$|v_1, \dots, v_N\rangle = \prod_{a=1}^N \left( \sum_{j=1}^L \frac{g_j}{g_j^2 - v_a} S_j^+ \right) |\emptyset\rangle , \qquad (7)$$

parametrized by *N* (possibly complex) variables  $v_1, v_2, ..., v_N$ . These variables are also known as rapidities.<sup>1</sup> The number of excitations is bounded by  $N \le 2\sum_{j=1}^{L} s_j$ , where equality corresponds to the fully polarized state  $\bigotimes_{j=1}^{L} |s_j\rangle$ .

First, the Hamiltonian has a class of degenerate *dark eigenstates*, where the central spin is maximally polarized along either the positive or negative *z*-direction. For M < 0, all dark states have central spin down, reading

$$|\mathcal{D}(v_1,\ldots,v_N)\rangle = |-1\rangle_0 \otimes |v_1,\ldots,v_N\rangle, \qquad (8)$$

with rapidities satisfying a set of Bethe equations

$$\sum_{j=1}^{L} \frac{s_j g_j^2}{g_j^2 - \nu_a} - \sum_{b \neq a}^{N} \frac{\nu_b}{\nu_b - \nu_a} = 0, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, N\},$$
(9)

such that  $G^-|v_1, \ldots, v_N\rangle = 0$ . Note that the rapidities, and thus the dark states  $|D\rangle$ , are independent of the magnetic field strength  $\omega_0$ .

The dark states span a degenerate manifold of energy  $E = -\omega_0$ :

$$H |\mathcal{D}(v_1, \dots, v_N)\rangle = -\omega_0 |\mathcal{D}(v_1, \dots, v_N)\rangle.$$
<sup>(10)</sup>

Above half-filling, the dark states have central spin polarization  $|+1\rangle_0$ . The environment states are annihilated by  $G^+$  and can be similarly obtained by spin inversion.

The second class of eigenstates are *bright states*, in which the central spin is entangled with the environment states. Bright states can be parametrized as

$$|\mathcal{B}(\kappa, \nu_1, \dots, \nu_N)\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}} |0\rangle_0 \otimes |\nu_1, \dots, \nu_N\rangle + \frac{1}{\kappa - \omega_0} |1\rangle_0 \otimes G^- |\nu_1, \dots, \nu_N\rangle + \frac{1}{\kappa + \omega_0} |-1\rangle_0 \otimes G^+ |\nu_1, \dots, \nu_N\rangle , \qquad (11)$$

satisfying the eigenvalue equation

$$H |\mathcal{B}(\kappa, \nu_1, \dots, \nu_N)\rangle = \kappa |\mathcal{B}(\kappa, \nu_1, \dots, \nu_N)\rangle, \qquad (12)$$

provided the rapidities satisfy the set of Bethe equations

$$\frac{\omega_0 - \kappa}{2\kappa} + \sum_{j=1}^{L} \frac{s_j g_j^2}{g_j^2 - \nu_a} - \sum_{b \neq a}^{N} \frac{\nu_b}{\nu_b - \nu_a} = 0, \quad \text{for all} \quad a \in \{1, \dots, N\}, \quad (13)$$

$$\kappa(\kappa+\omega_0) = -4\left(\sum_{a=1}^N v_a - \sum_{j=1}^L s_j g_j^2\right).$$
(14)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Both  $v_a$  and  $1/v_a$  are used throughout the literature as variables, leading to slightly different Bethe states and equations as compared to e.g. Ref. [31].

These bright states contain N + 1 spin excitations on top of the vacuum state  $|-1\rangle_0 \otimes |\emptyset\rangle$  and have total spin magnetization  $M = N - \sum_{j=1}^{L} s_j$ . While completeness of the Bethe ansatz is typically not easy to establish, in Sec. 5 we argue

While completeness of the Bethe ansatz is typically not easy to establish, in Sec. 5 we argue that these bright and dark states exhaust all possible eigenstates, such that the Bethe ansatz is complete for this model.

Beyond these results on integrability, we also characterize the dynamical properties of the central spin-1 model in several relevant limits. In the single-excitation sector a more detailed analysis of the eigenstates is possible, even in the  $L \rightarrow \infty$  limit. The model continues to support both dark and bright states, but the spin-flip excitation is neither localized nor delocalized, but rather *semilocalized* [49] – the central spin has an  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  probability of carrying the excitation, to be contrasted with the  $\mathcal{O}(1/L)$  probability for the environment spins. This feature can be directly observed in quench dynamics, where it implies that initial states where the central spin carries the excitation exhibit a nonvanishing oscillation in  $\langle S_0^z(t) \rangle$ , even in the  $L \rightarrow \infty$  limit.

Consequences of integrability remain visible with an unpolarized environment. We show numerically that the remanent central spin magnetization in a quench to resonance ( $\omega_0 = 0$ ) differs from the Gibbs ensemble prediction. While the remanent magnetization is determined by the diagonal ensemble corresponding to the full Hamiltonian, we show that its value is wellapproximated by a *homogeneous dephasing approximation* (HDA). Within this approximation we assume that the matrix elements of  $S_0^z$  in the inhomogeneous model can be accurately approximated by the matrix elements in the homogeneous model, while keeping the energies different. The latter leads to dephasing at long times, which is absent in the homogeneous model, and an approach to the diagonal ensemble prediction in the inhomogeneous model.

# 3 Factorizable Richardson-Gaudin Hamiltonians

In this section, we review various properties of the class of factorizable Richardson-Gaudin Hamiltonians [33–36] that will be useful in establishing the conserved charges and eigenstates of the spin-1 central spin Hamiltonian. The integrability and eigenstates of the spin-1/2 model were similarly obtained using the properties of these models in Ref. [31], but the construction for the spin-1 model is more involved and cannot be seen as a direct generalization of the spin-1/2 model.

The family of factorizable Hamiltonians can be written as

$$H(\alpha) = \frac{1+\alpha}{2}G^{+}G^{-} + \frac{1-\alpha}{2}G^{-}G^{+} = \alpha \sum_{j=1}^{L} g_{j}^{2}S_{j}^{z} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{j,k=1}^{L} g_{j}g_{k}\left(S_{j}^{+}S_{k}^{-} + S_{j}^{-}S_{k}^{+}\right).$$
(15)

The Hamiltonian  $H(\alpha)$  is integrable for every choice of  $\alpha$ , and results for its eigenstates and conserved charges can be found in, for example, Refs. [36, 50]. For reference, the conserved quantities are:

$$Q_{j}(\alpha) = \alpha S_{j}^{z} + \frac{S_{j}^{+} S_{j}^{-} + S_{j}^{-} S_{j}^{+}}{2} + \sum_{k \neq j}^{L} \left[ \frac{g_{j} g_{k}}{g_{j}^{2} - g_{k}^{2}} (S_{j}^{+} S_{k}^{-} + S_{j}^{-} S_{k}^{+}) + \frac{2g_{k}^{2}}{g_{j}^{2} - g_{k}^{2}} S_{j}^{z} S_{k}^{z} \right].$$
(16)

These satisfy  $[H(\alpha), Q_j(\alpha)] = [Q_j(\alpha), Q_k(\alpha)] = 0$ , for all j, k = 1, ..., L. In the conserved charges of the central spin model we have  $Q_j \equiv Q_j(\alpha = 0)$ . Note that different equivalent expressions for these conserved charges appear in the literature: the asymmetric expressions used here [50-56] as well as more symmetric ones [34, 35, 57-59].

## Sci Post

All eigenstates can be written as Bethe states, where a Bethe state with *N* spin excitations on top of the vacuum state  $|\emptyset\rangle = \bigotimes_{j=1}^{L} |-s_j\rangle$  is defined as

$$|v_1, v_2, \dots, v_N\rangle = \prod_{a=1}^N G^+(v_a) |0\rangle$$
, with  $G^+(v) = \sum_{j=1}^L \frac{g_j}{g_j^2 - v} S_j^+$ , (17)

expressed in terms of generalized spin raising operators that depend on the parameters  $v_1, v_2, \ldots v_N$ . These Bethe states are eigenstates provided these rapidities satisfy a set of Bethe equations

$$\frac{\alpha - 1}{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{L} \frac{s_j g_j^2}{g_j^2 - \nu_a} - \sum_{b \neq a}^{N} \frac{\nu_b}{\nu_b - \nu_a} = 0, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, N\},$$
(18)

resulting in eigenvalue equations for the conserved charges,

$$Q_{j}(\alpha)|v_{1},v_{2},\ldots,v_{N}\rangle = -2s_{j}\left[\frac{\alpha-1}{2} + \sum_{a=1}^{N}\frac{v_{a}}{g_{j}^{2}-v_{a}} - \sum_{k\neq j}^{L}\frac{s_{k}g_{k}^{2}}{g_{j}^{2}-g_{k}^{2}}\right]|v_{1},v_{2},\ldots,v_{N}\rangle, \quad (19)$$

as well as the Hamiltonian,

$$H(\alpha)|v_1, v_2, \dots, v_N\rangle = (\alpha - 1) \left[ \sum_{a=1}^N v_a - \sum_{j=1}^L s_j g_j^2 \right] |v_1, v_2, \dots, v_N\rangle .$$
(20)

Note that the eigenstates and eigenvalues have an implicit dependence on  $\alpha$  through the Bethe equations (18). As apparent from Eq. (20), the rapidities can be given an interpretation as spin excitation energies on top of a vacuum energy, with the Bethe equations acting as a set of self-consistency equations.

The model exhibits a quantum phase transition at  $|\alpha| = 1$ . Consider, for example,  $\alpha = 1$ , at which point the Hamiltonian reduces to a positive semi-definite Hamiltonian  $G^+G^-$ . The ground states have energy zero, are necessarily annihilated by  $G^-$ , and are highly degenerate (see, for example, Ref. [56]). The Bethe ground states are parametrized by N rapidities satisfying

$$\sum_{j=1}^{L} \frac{s_j g_j^2}{g_j^2 - v_a} - \sum_{b \neq a}^{N} \frac{v_b}{v_b - v_a} = 0, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, N\}.$$
(21)

All excited states have strictly positive energy and correspond to Bethe states with a single diverging rapidity  $\nu \rightarrow \infty$ , and the remaining N - 1 (finite) rapidities satisfy the set of Bethe equations

$$-1 + \sum_{j=1}^{L} \frac{s_j g_j^2}{g_j^2 - \nu_a} - \sum_{b \neq a}^{N-1} \frac{\nu_b}{\nu_b - \nu_a} = 0, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, N-1\},$$
(22)

leading to a strictly positive (energy) eigenvalue  $\sum_{j=1}^{L} 2s_j g_j^2 - 2 \sum_{a=1}^{N-1} v_a$  for the Hamiltonian  $G^+G^-$ . The ground and excited states result in dark and bright states respectively in Sec. 5.

## 4 Conserved charges

The general conserved charges of the central spin Hamiltonian are most easily derived in a  $3 \times 3$  block-matrix representation, in which the Hamiltonian (1) is given by

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_0 & \sqrt{2}G^- & 0\\ \sqrt{2}G^+ & 0 & \sqrt{2}G^-\\ 0 & \sqrt{2}G^+ & -\omega_0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (23)

The different blocks correspond to different eigenvalues of the central spin polarization  $S_0^z$ , here ordered as  $\{+1, 0, -1\}$ , and every matrix element acts on the *L* environment spins. The diagonal terms correspond to  $\omega_0 S_0^z$  and are proportional to the identity within each block. The off-diagonal factors of  $\sqrt{2}$  arise from the action of  $S_0^{\pm}$  connecting different blocks.

The *L* corresponding conserved charges (5) establishing integrability can be expressed in block-matrix form as

$$\tilde{Q}_{j} = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_{0}(Q_{j} - S_{j}^{z}) & \sqrt{2}G^{-}Q_{j} & 0\\ \sqrt{2}Q_{j}G^{+} & \omega_{0}S_{j}^{z} & \sqrt{2}Q_{j}G^{-}\\ 0 & \sqrt{2}G^{+}Q_{j} & -\omega_{0}(Q_{j} + S_{j}^{z}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(24)

These satisfy  $[\tilde{Q}_j, H] = [\tilde{Q}_j, \tilde{Q}_k] = 0$ , for all j, k = 1, ..., L. These properties are checked by direct calculation below using properties of the  $Q_j$  as defined in Eq. (6). The different terms in Eq. (24) can first be motivated by considering two simplifying limits.

**Far away from resonance.** Close to the limit  $\omega_0 \rightarrow \infty$  we can perform a Schrieffer-Wolff transformation [60, 61] to obtain an effective Hamiltonian

$$H_{\rm eff} = \omega_0 S_0^z + \frac{1}{\omega_0} \left[ S_0^+ G^-, S_0^- G^+ \right] = \omega_0 S_0^z + \frac{1}{\omega_0} \left( S_0^+ S_0^- G^- G^+ - S_0^- S_0^+ G^+ G^- \right), \tag{25}$$

which has block-matrix representation

$$H_{\text{eff}} = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_0 + \frac{2}{\omega_0} G^- G^+ & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{2}{\omega_0} [G^-, G^+] & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\omega_0 - \frac{2}{\omega_0} G^+ G^- \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} \omega_0 + \frac{2}{\omega_0} H(\alpha = -1) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{4}{\omega_0} H(\alpha \to \infty) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\omega_0 - \frac{2}{\omega_0} H(\alpha = 1) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(26)

All diagonal elements correspond to Richardson-Gaudin integrable Hamiltonians for the environment from Sec. 3, such that the effective Hamiltonian itself is also integrable. The diagonal elements of Eq. (24) are the dominant terms for  $\omega_0 \rightarrow \infty$  and correspond exactly to the conserved charges of the Hamiltonian in Eq. (26).

At resonance. In the opposite limit where  $\omega_0 = 0$ , i.e. at resonance, the diagonal elements of both the Hamiltonian (23) and the conserved charges (24) vanish. In this limit the commutator of the Hamiltonian with the conserved charges can be directly evaluated as

$$[H, \tilde{Q}_j] = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2[G^+G^- + G^-G^+, Q_j] & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (27)

This expression for the commutator is independent of the choice of  $Q_j$ . The single nontrivial element now vanishes since  $G^+G^- + G^-G^+$  is again a Richardson-Gaudin integrable Hamiltonian, with conserved charges  $Q_j$ .

An alternative way of obtaining the conserved charge in this limit is by noting that  $H^2$  commutes with  $(S_0^z)^2$ . If we consider the component of  $H^2$  in the space with zero spin polarization, we have that

$$P_0 H^2 = 2P_0 \left( G^+ G^- + G^- G^+ \right), \tag{28}$$

returning the factorizable Hamiltonian with conserved charges  $Q_j$  for the environment space. The Hamiltonian squared then has conserved charges  $P_0Q_j$ , such that at resonance the Hamiltonian itself has conserved charges  $\{H, P_0Q_j\}$ . Expressing these charges as a block matrix then returns the conserved charges (24) with  $\omega_0 = 0$ .

**General.** The general conserved charges (24) are linear in  $\omega_0$ , such that they interpolate between the two limiting cases. The commutation relation at arbitrary values of  $\omega_0$  can be checked by evaluating the commutator  $[H, \tilde{Q}_j]$ , which reads

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sqrt{2}\omega_0(G^-Q_j^{(+)} - Q_j^{(-)}G^-) & 0\\ \sqrt{2}\omega_0(G^+Q_j^{(-)} - Q_j^{(+)}G^+) & 2[G^+G^- + G^-G^+, Q_j] & -\sqrt{2}\omega_0(G^-Q_j^{(+)} - Q_j^{(-)}G^-)\\ 0 & -\sqrt{2}\omega_0(G^+Q_j^{(-)} - Q_j^{(+)}G^+) & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(29)

where we have introduced the shorthand  $Q_j^{(\pm)} = Q_j \pm S_j^z$ . No properties of the  $Q_j$  have been used yet. The diagonal element again vanishes since  $Q_j$  are the conserved charges of  $G^+G^- + G^-G^+$  [see Eq. (16)]. The off-diagonal elements can be shown to vanish by noting that  $G^+Q_j^{(-)} = Q_j^{(+)}G^+$  or  $G^-Q_j^{(+)} = Q_j^{(-)}G^-$  (see, for example, Ref. [31]). It is an open question how the integrability of this model and the construction of the con-

It is an open question how the integrability of this model and the construction of the conserved charges can be incorporated in the general framework of (Richardson-Gaudin) integrability such as generalized Gaudin algebras [58], constructions based on solutions to the Yang-Baxter equation such as the algebraic Bethe ansatz [62, 63], or based on solutions to the "generalized" classical Yang-Baxter equation [44, 64] and corresponding modified Bethe ansatz [65].

## 5 Eigenstates

Central spin XX models generally support two different classes of eigenstates: bright and dark states. All such states can be obtained explicitly and systematically. We note that the construction of dark states does not depend on the value of the central spin (see, for example, Refs. [45, 66–69]), such that the construction for dark states in the spin-1/2 model immediately extends to the current model. The construction of the bright states, however, is particular to this model, and these exhibit a richer behavior as compared to the spin-1/2 case.

#### 5.1 Homogeneous limit

It is instructive to first examine the special case of homogeneous couplings,  $g_j = g$  for all j. In this case  $G^{\pm}$  is proportional to the total spin raising/lowering operator on the environment and we can write

$$H = \omega_0 S_0^z + g \left( S_0^+ J^- + S_0^- J^+ \right), \quad \text{where} \quad J^\mu = \sum_{j=1}^L S_j^\mu.$$
(30)

The eigenstates of the model (30) can be found without resorting to Bethe ansatz machinery. The homogeneous limit has symmetries

$$[H, S_0^z + J^z] = [H, S_0^2] = [H, J^2] = 0,$$
(31)



Figure 2: Illustration of the spectrum of the central spin Hamiltonian (with all environment spins being spin-1/2) in the homogeneous case (dashed black line and full colored lines) and the inhomogeneous case (full gray lines) in the sector with L = 10, N = 4 such that M = -2. In the homogeneous case, dark states correspond to states with environment spin J = |M| - 1 = 1. Sectors with J = |M| = 2 contribute two states, sectors with  $|M| < J \le L/2 = 5$  contribute three states.

where  $J^2 = \frac{1}{2}(J^+J^- + J^-J^+) + (J^z)^2$  is the total spin operator for the environment. The central spin Hamiltonian can be represented as a block-diagonal matrix in a fixed (M,J) sector of linear dimension 1, 2 or 3, depending on the relation between *J* and *M*. All such matrices can be explicitly diagonalized to return the spectrum of the homogeneous central spin model.

**Bright states**. We first consider the case J > |M|. The Hamiltonian has contributions from  $3 \times 3$  blocks spanned by

$$|+1\rangle_0 \otimes |J, M-1\rangle , \qquad |0\rangle_0 \otimes |J, M\rangle , \qquad |-1\rangle_0 \otimes |J, M+1\rangle , \qquad (32)$$

where  $|m_0\rangle_0$  denotes the eigenstates of  $S_0^z$  and  $|J, M_J\rangle$  is a simultaneous eigenstate of  $J^2$  and  $J^z$  with eigenvalues J(J + 1) and  $M_J$ , respectively. In this block H takes the form

$$H_{JM} = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_0 & \sqrt{2}gc_{JM}^- & 0\\ \sqrt{2}gc_{JM}^- & 0 & \sqrt{2}gc_{JM}^+\\ 0 & \sqrt{2}gc_{JM}^+ & -\omega_0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{with} \quad c_{JM}^{\pm} = \sqrt{(J \mp M)(J \pm M + 1)}.$$
(33)

The resulting states generally depend strongly on  $\omega_0$  and are known as *bright states*—to be contrasted with the dark states that will be introduced later in this section.

In the special case of resonance ( $\omega_0 = 0$ ) the eigenstates can be analytically constructed and used to further divide the bright states in two subclasses. The Hamiltonian matrix reduces to

$$H_{JM} = \sqrt{2}g \begin{pmatrix} 0 & c_{JM}^{-} & 0 \\ c_{JM}^{-} & 0 & c_{JM}^{+} \\ 0 & c_{JM}^{+} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (34)

A single eigenstate can be constructed as

$$|\mathcal{B}_0\rangle = \frac{1}{B} \left( c_{JM}^+ |+1\rangle_0 \otimes |J, M-1\rangle - c_{JM}^- |-1\rangle_0 \otimes |J, M+1\rangle \right),\tag{35}$$



with  $|B|^2 = (c_{JM}^+)^2 + (c_{JM}^-)^2$  and energy  $E_0 = 0$ . A notable feature of this class is that these states have no weight on  $|0\rangle_0$ . This feature will persist to the inhomogeneous case, and we will refer to these states as *double states*.

The remaining two eigenstates follow as

$$|\mathcal{B}_{\pm}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|0\rangle_0 \otimes |J,M\rangle \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}B} \left( c_{JM}^- |+1\rangle_0 \otimes |J,M-1\rangle + c_{JM}^+ |-1\rangle_0 \otimes |J,M+1\rangle \right), \quad (36)$$

with degenerate energy eigenvalues  $E_{\pm} = \sqrt{2}gB$ . The persistent feature of this class is that exactly half the weight of the state is on  $|0\rangle_0$ . These states form pairs and since they always have support on all three central spin states we will refer to these as *triple states*.

Next, we can consider the case J = |M| with  $M \neq 0$ . The Hamiltonian now only couples two different states, depending on the sign of M,

$$|0\rangle_0 \otimes |M, M\rangle$$
 and  $|+1\rangle_0 \otimes |M, M-1\rangle$ , for  $M > 0$ , (37)

$$|0\rangle_0 \otimes |-M,M\rangle$$
 and  $|-1\rangle_0 \otimes |-M,M+1\rangle$ , for  $M < 0$ . (38)

Constructing the central spin Hamiltonian in this basis leads to a  $2 \times 2$  matrix. For example, for M > 0,

$$H_{MM} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 2g\sqrt{M} \\ 2g\sqrt{M} & \omega_0 \end{pmatrix},\tag{39}$$

which can be explicitly diagonalized to return a pair of eigenvalues

$$E = \frac{\omega_0}{2} \pm \sqrt{\frac{\omega_0^2}{4} + 4Mg^2}.$$
 (40)

These states have common properties of both double and triple states. At resonance the corresponding eigenstates are supported on two states, as with double states, but half the weight of the state is on  $|0\rangle_0$ , as with the triple states. Since we will be interested in quench dynamics of the central spin magnetization, we also refer to these as *triple states*.

**Dark states.** If we consider a total environment spin where J = |M| - 1, the blocks reduce to  $1 \times 1$  blocks. This condition enforces that the environment is in a state  $|J,J\rangle$  or  $|J,-J\rangle$ , and the corresponding states can now only take the form

$$|+1\rangle_0 \otimes |J,J\rangle = |+1\rangle_0 \otimes |M-1,M-1\rangle, \qquad \text{for} \qquad M > 0, \qquad (41)$$

$$|-1\rangle_0 \otimes |J, -J\rangle = |-1\rangle_0 \otimes |-M - 1, M + 1\rangle, \qquad \text{for} \qquad M < 0.$$
(42)

Crucially, these states have the property that they are annihilated by both  $S_0^+J^-$  and  $S_0^-J^+$ , the interaction terms in the Hamiltonian, such that  $|D\rangle = |\pm 1\rangle_0 \otimes |J, \pm J\rangle$  is an eigenstate of H with eigenvalue  $\pm \omega_0$ . These product eigenstates  $|D\rangle$  are called *dark states* and are independent of  $\omega_0$ . Note that dark states with central spin state  $|+1\rangle_0$  only appear for M > 0, whereas dark states with central spin state  $|-1\rangle_0$  only appear for M < 0. In the specific case where J = M = 0, the homogeneous model supports additional dark states of the form  $|0\rangle_0 \otimes |0,0\rangle$ , which are eigenstates of the Hamiltonian with zero eigenvalue.

In Appendix A, we provide the counting of each class of states, assuming each environmental spin is spin-1/2. In the limit of large *L*, there are twice as many triple states as double states, while the ratio of the number of dark states to that of triple states scales as |M|/L. We use these results to predict the late-time expectation value of central spin projectors in Sec. 7.

#### 5.2 The inhomogeneous model

The eigenstates of the inhomogeneous model can be constructed as Bethe states that are a direct generalization of the eigenstates of the homogeneous model.

#### Dark states

At every value of the magnetic field  $\omega_0$ , the central spin Hamiltonian in Eq. (1) supports a set of dark eigenstates in which the central spin is not entangled with the environment spins. These dark states  $|D\rangle$  are product states of the form  $|-1\rangle_0 \otimes |D^-\rangle$  or  $|+1\rangle_0 \otimes |D^+\rangle$ , where the environment state is adiabatically connected to the states  $|J, \pm J\rangle$  and satisfies [31,45,66–68]

$$G^{\pm} \left| \mathcal{D}^{\pm} \right\rangle = 0. \tag{43}$$

This condition guarantees that such dark states are annihilated by the (inhomogeneous) interaction part of the Hamiltonian (1), as well as being eigenstates of the central spin term  $S_0^z$ with eigenvalues ±1. As such, dark states are independent of the central spin field  $\omega_0$  and form degenerate manifolds with energy ± $\omega_0$ .

As outlined in Ref. [31], the environment states correspond to the ground states of the factorizable Hamiltonians  $G^+G^-$  and  $G^-G^+$ , which can be expressed as Bethe states satisfying the Bethe equations (21). As reviewed in Sec. 3, for M < 0 these dark states can be written as

$$|\mathcal{D}(\nu_1,\ldots,\nu_N)\rangle = |-1\rangle_0 \otimes |\nu_1,\ldots,\nu_N\rangle, \qquad (44)$$

with rapidities satisfying the Bethe equations

$$\sum_{j=1}^{L} \frac{s_j g_j^2}{g_j^2 - v_a} - \sum_{b \neq a}^{N} \frac{v_b}{v_b - v_a} = 0, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, N\}.$$
(45)

#### **Bright states**

The bright eigenstates can similarly be related to the eigenstates of the factorizable Richardson-Gaudin models, albeit in a more involved way. Specifically, we consider an ansatz expressed in terms of a single environment state  $|\psi\rangle$  and a free parameter  $\kappa$ , writing

$$|\mathcal{B}\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}}|0\rangle_0 \otimes |\psi\rangle + \frac{1}{\kappa - \omega_0}|1\rangle_0 \otimes G^- |\psi\rangle + \frac{1}{\kappa + \omega_0}|-1\rangle_0 \otimes G^+ |\psi\rangle . \tag{46}$$

The above state is an eigenstate of the Hamiltonian (1) with eigenvalue  $\kappa$  provided the environment state  $|\psi\rangle$  satisfies the (self-consistent) eigenvalue equation

$$H_{\kappa}|\psi\rangle = \left[\frac{G^{+}G^{-}}{\kappa - \omega_{0}} + \frac{G^{-}G^{+}}{\kappa + \omega_{0}}\right]|\psi\rangle = \frac{\kappa}{2}|\psi\rangle .$$
(47)

This equation is self-consistent because the Hamiltonian  $H_{\kappa}$  depends on the eigenvalue, but, crucially, is Richardson-Gaudin integrable for every choice of  $\kappa$ . As such, its eigenstates can be exactly constructed as Bethe states for every choice of  $\kappa$ . The Hamiltonian is (up to a prefactor) the Hamiltonian from Eq. (15) from Sec. 3, where the parameter  $\alpha$  can be determined as  $\omega_0/\kappa$ . In order to find a set of Bethe equations we can express the eigenvalue  $\kappa$  in terms of rapidities, and now the Bethe equations for these rapidities need to be modified to take into account the self-consistency. This approach directly returns the equations (13).

#### Spectrum at resonance

The eigenstates of the inhomogeneous model at resonance can again be compared with the eigenstates at resonance in the homogeneous limit, recovering the double, triple and dark states.

# Sci Post

At resonance,  $\omega_0 = 0$ , the self-consistency equation for the bright states (47) reduces to a regular eigenvalue equation. In this limit the self-consistent equation can be rewritten as

$$\left[G^{+}G^{-}+G^{-}G^{+}\right]|\psi\rangle = \frac{\kappa^{2}}{2}|\psi\rangle , \qquad (48)$$

such that the environment states will correspond to the eigenstates of the above (integrable) Hamiltonian. Since the Hamiltonian  $G^+G^- + G^-G^+$  is positive definite,  $\kappa^2$  is always positive. For a given eigenstate of this Hamiltonian with eigenvalue  $\kappa^2/2$ , the central spin Hamiltonian has two corresponding eigenstates with eigenvalue  $\pm \kappa$ , given by

$$|\mathcal{B}_{\pm}\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}} |0\rangle_0 \otimes |\psi\rangle \pm \frac{1}{\kappa} \left(|+\rangle_0 \otimes G^- |\psi\rangle + |-\rangle_0 \otimes G^+ |\psi\rangle\right). \tag{49}$$

These are the (normalized) *triple states* identified previously in the homogeneous limit, and continue to have exactly half their weight on  $|0\rangle_0$ .

The *double states*, with zero energy and vanishing weight on  $|0\rangle_0$ , can be constructed in an alternative way (since in this limit the corresponding Bethe equations become singular):

$$|\mathcal{B}_{0}\rangle = |-\rangle_{0} \otimes G^{+} (G^{-} G^{+})^{-1} |\psi\rangle - |+\rangle_{0} \otimes G^{-} (G^{+} G^{-})^{-1} |\psi\rangle, \qquad (50)$$

where the inverse should be interpreted as a pseudo-inverse, with the condition that the pseudo-inverse should act as the actual inverse on the environment states  $|\psi\rangle$ , i.e.

$$G^{-}G^{+}(G^{-}G^{+})^{-1}|\psi\rangle = G^{+}G^{-}(G^{+}G^{-})^{-1}|\psi\rangle = |\psi\rangle.$$
(51)

This condition can be satisfied if we consider an initial state that has vanishing overlap with the dark states, since the dark states lie in the kernel of either  $G^+G^-$  or  $G^-G^+$ . For example, if we consider M < 0, all dark states are annihilated by  $G^+G^-$  whereas  $G^-G^+$  has no dark states, such that the inverse of  $G^-G^+$  is well defined. Taking the state  $|\psi\rangle$  to be an excited state of  $G^+G^-$ , every excited state gives rise to a well defined double state.

#### Completeness

It is possible to count the total number of dark and bright states and show that they exhaust all eigenstates of the central spin Hamiltonian (1). The number of these states depends on the choice of environment spins, and for concreteness we here focus on the case where each environmental spin is spin-1/2 and M < 0. The argument for completeness does not depend on the specific choice of spins or total magnetization.

The total number of dark states is set by the number of solutions to

$$G^{-}|\mathcal{D}^{-}\rangle = 0. \tag{52}$$

For a total magnetization M and a dark state  $|-1\rangle_0 \otimes |\mathcal{D}^-\rangle$ , the state  $|\mathcal{D}^-\rangle$  has a magnetization M + 1 and the state  $G^- |\mathcal{D}^-\rangle$  has magnetization M. The total number of solutions to the above equation is given by the dimension of the former Hilbert space (fixing the number of variables) minus the dimension of the latter (fixing the number of constraints), and we find<sup>2</sup>

$$N_{\text{dark}} = \binom{L}{M + L/2 + 1} - \binom{L}{M + L/2}.$$
(53)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Eq. (53) requires that  $G^-$  is surjective on the *M* magnetization sector. This can be seen by noting that  $G^- = P^{-1}J^-P$  is related to the total spin lowering operator by a similarity transformation, where  $P = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{L} -\ln g_i S_i^z\right)$  [56].



Figure 3: Graphical illustration of the self-consistency equation for L = 4. Full black lines denote the spectrum  $E(\kappa)$  of the Hamiltonian (54) and the dashed red line  $E(\kappa) = \kappa/2$  (47). Vertical dotted lines mark the asymptotics at  $\kappa = \pm \omega_0$ .

The same result can be recovered in the homogeneous case (see Eq. (A.2)).

For the bright states, the total number of solutions to the self-consistent equation can be found by plotting the spectrum of the Hamiltonian

$$H_{\kappa} = \frac{G^+ G^-}{\kappa - \omega_0} + \frac{G^- G^+}{\kappa + \omega_0}$$
(54)

as a function of  $\kappa$ , as illustrated in Fig. 3 for generic choices of the interaction strengths and  $\omega_0$ . Our conclusions do not depend on any specific choice of the parameters.

Any intersection between this spectrum and the dashed red line denoting  $\kappa$  determines a solution to the self-consistent equation (47). The number of solutions can now be directly related to the number of bright states: the different lines in Fig. 3 correspond to the different eigenstates of the Hamiltonian (54). As  $\kappa \to \pm \infty$  all eigenvalues go to zero. At intermediate values of  $\kappa$  all eigenvalues are monotonously decreasing, as follows from the Hellmann-Feynman theorem:

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial \kappa} = \left\langle \frac{\partial H_{\kappa}}{\partial \kappa} \right\rangle = -\frac{\langle G^+ G^- \rangle}{(\kappa - \omega_0)^2} - \frac{\langle G^- G^+ \rangle}{(\kappa + \omega_0)^2} \le 0.$$
(55)

Here we have made use of the positive semi-definiteness of  $G^{\pm}G^{\mp}$ . Since the Hamiltonian diverges at  $\kappa = \pm \omega_0$ , there are now two options for every eigenvalue  $E(\kappa)$ : either these diverge at  $\kappa = \pm \omega_0$  and the eigenvalue has two vertical asymptotes, or the corresponding eigenstate is annihilated by the residue of  $H_{\kappa}$  at  $\kappa = \omega_0$  or  $\kappa = -\omega_0$  and the eigenvalue has a single vertical asymptote (the state cannot be annihilated by both, as will be made apparent shortly). In the former case the eigenvalue has 3 intercepts with the diagonal line, leading to 3 bright state solutions per environment state. In the latter case the eigenvalue has 2 intercepts with the diagonal line, leading to 2 bright states per environment state. Crucially, the number of states that are annihilated by the residue is exactly equal to the number of dark states, since these are the states that are annihilated by  $G^+G^-$  (or  $G^-G^+$  for M > 0).

As such, the total number of bright state solutions equals three times the environment space dimension minus the number of dark states, which combined with the total number of dark states returns the full dimension of the spin-1 central spin Hamiltonian, where the central spin can take 3 different values. The completeness of the Bethe ansatz for the spin-1

central spin Hamiltonian then directly follows from the completeness of the Bethe ansatz for the Richardson-Gaudin Hamiltonian (15) [70,71].

# 6 Single excitation

In the case of a single spin excitation the eigenstates are amenable to a more detailed analytical treatment, even away from resonance and in the limit of an infinite environment  $L \rightarrow \infty$ . In the following, we first analyze the localization properties of the (bright) eigenstates and then present exact results for quench dynamics starting from a product state.

### 6.1 Multifractality and semilocalization

In the case of a single excitation, the Hamiltonian (1) can be written as a so-called arrowhead matrix. Such models generally support both dark and bright eigenstates, and these states have recently gained attention [49] in the context of *semilocalization*, being neither fully localized nor fully delocalized. Calculations of the inverse participation ratio (IPR) instead indicated a multifractal behavior.

The IPR is defined as

$$\mathcal{P}(q) = \sum_{j=0}^{L} |\psi_j|^{2q},$$
(56)

with  $|\psi_j|^2$  the component of the (normalized) wave function where the excitation is located on spin *j*. For a delocalized eigenstate, all components are on the order 1/L, resulting in an IPR scaling with *L* as  $\mathcal{P}(q) = \mathcal{O}(L^{1-q})$ , whereas a localized eigenstate has a few components  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ , resulting in a scaling of  $\mathcal{P}(q) = \mathcal{O}(1)$ . A change of scaling as *q* is varied is a signature of multifractality in the eigenstate [49, 72–74].

For a single excitation in the central spin model, there are L - 1 dark states and 2 bright states. In the construction of the bright states (46), the environment state  $|\psi\rangle$  is necessarily the vacuum state  $|\emptyset\rangle$ . The wave function reads

$$|\kappa\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}} |0\rangle_0 \otimes |\emptyset\rangle + \frac{1}{\kappa + \omega_0} |-1\rangle_0 \otimes G^+ |\emptyset\rangle , \qquad (57)$$

with  $\kappa$  satisfying

$$\left[\frac{G^{+}G^{-}}{\kappa-\omega_{0}} + \frac{G^{-}G^{+}}{\kappa+\omega_{0}}\right]|\emptyset\rangle = \frac{G^{-}G^{+}}{\kappa+\omega_{0}}|\emptyset\rangle = \frac{\kappa}{2}|\emptyset\rangle .$$
(58)

As  $G^{-}|\emptyset\rangle = 0$  and  $G^{-}G^{+}|\emptyset\rangle = [G^{-}, G^{+}]|\emptyset\rangle = 2\sum_{j=1}^{L} s_{j}g_{j}^{2}|\emptyset\rangle$ , the self-consistent eigenvalue equation simplifies to a quadratic equation for  $\kappa$ . This quadratic equation can be explicitly solved to return the two bright states.

In order to have a finite  $\kappa$  value when the number of environment sites L goes to infinity, we will consider a distribution of interaction strengths  $g_j = \tilde{g}_j/\sqrt{L}$  with  $\tilde{g}_j$  distributed in some fixed interval. The quadratic equation returns two solutions corresponding to two bright states with

$$\kappa = -\frac{\omega_0}{2} \pm \sqrt{\frac{\omega_0^2}{4} + 2\overline{g}^2}, \quad \text{with} \quad \overline{g}^2 = \frac{1}{L} \sum_{j=1}^L 2s_j \tilde{g}_j^2.$$
 (59)

## Sci Post

Crucially,  $\kappa$  stays finite in the limit  $L \to \infty$ , resulting in both a finite eigenvalue and nonzero components in the wave function (57). The normalized components of the wave function immediately follow as

$$|\psi_0|^2 = \frac{(\kappa + \omega_0)^2}{(\kappa + \omega_0)^2 + 2\overline{g}^2}, \qquad |\psi_j|^2 = 2\frac{2s_j g_j^2}{(\kappa + \omega_0)^2 + 2\overline{g}^2}, \quad j = 1, \dots, L.$$
(60)

The IPR can be calculated from these components as

$$\mathcal{P}(q) = |\psi_0|^{2q} + \sum_{j=1}^{L} |\psi_j|^{2q} = \frac{(\kappa + \omega_0)^{2q}}{((\kappa + \omega_0)^2 + 2\overline{g}^2)^q} + \frac{2^q}{L^q} \sum_{j=1}^{L} \left(\frac{2s_j \tilde{g}_j^2}{(\kappa + \omega_0)^2 + 2\overline{g}^2}\right)^q.$$
(61)

Assuming a uniform distribution for  $2s_j \tilde{g}_j^2$  in a finite interval  $[0, 2\overline{g}^2]$ , the sum can be explicitly evaluated to return

$$\mathcal{P}(q) = \frac{(\kappa + \omega_0)^{2q}}{((\kappa + \omega_0)^2 + 2\overline{g}^2)^q} + \frac{1}{L^{q-1}} \frac{4^q \overline{g}^{2q}}{(q+1)((\kappa + \omega_0)^2 + 2\overline{g}^2)^q}.$$
 (62)

The scaling of the IPR with L for a fixed q results in

$$\mathcal{P}(q) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{O}(L^{1-q}), & \text{if } 0 < q < 1, \\ \mathcal{O}(1), & \text{if } 1 < q. \end{cases}$$
(63)

This quantifies what is already apparent from the parametrizations (57) and (60): in the thermodynamic limit the component of the bright states on the central spin remains O(1), whereas all other components are delocalized over the environment states and O(1/L). This scenario has been dubbed *semilocalization* [49, 74].

#### 6.2 Quench dynamics

The effect of semilocalization can be directly observed in quench dynamics. We consider quenches where the system is initially prepared in a product state, with the single excitation localized either on the central spin or on one of the environment spins, and is subsequently evolved using the central spin Hamiltonian.

For simplicity, we focus on the dynamics of the central spin magnetization  $\langle S_0^z(t) \rangle$  starting from a general initial state  $|\psi_0\rangle$ . Since the dark states are eigenstates of  $S_0^z$  all nontrivial dynamics is due to the two bright states, and we can write

$$\begin{split} \langle S_0^z(t) \rangle &= -\sum_{\mathcal{D}} |\langle \psi_0 | \mathcal{D} \rangle|^2 + \sum_{\kappa = \kappa_{\pm}} \langle \kappa | S_0^z | \kappa \rangle |\langle \kappa | \psi_0 \rangle|^2 \\ &+ \left( e^{-i(\kappa_+ - \kappa_-)t} \langle \psi_0 | \kappa_- \rangle \langle \kappa_- | S_0^z | \kappa_+ \rangle \langle \kappa_+ | \psi_0 \rangle + \text{h.c.} \right), \end{split}$$
(64)

where we have labeled the two bright states by their eigenvalues  $\kappa_{\pm} = -\omega_0/2 \pm \sqrt{\omega_0^2/4 + 2\overline{g}^2}$ and the (L-1) dark states as  $\mathcal{D}$ . The central spin magnetization oscillates with a single frequency  $\kappa_+ - \kappa_- = 2\sqrt{\omega_0^2/4 + 2\overline{g}^2}$ , and both the amplitude of the oscillations and their average value are determined by the overlaps with the bright states.

Consider first the case where the initial state consists of an excitation on the central spin, i.e.  $|\psi_0\rangle = |0\rangle_0 \otimes |\emptyset\rangle$ . This state has a vanishing overlap with the dark states, and the contribution from the bright states can be calculated using the explicit parametrization (57) as

$$\langle \kappa | S_0^z | \kappa \rangle | \langle \kappa | \psi_0 \rangle |^2 = -\frac{\overline{g}^2}{2 \left( \omega_0^2 / 4 + 2\overline{g}^2 \right)}, \tag{65}$$



Figure 4: Quench dynamics in single-excitation sector away from resonance. (a) Dynamics of the central spin magnetization  $S_0^z$  for an initial product state that is either localized on the central spin (line starting at  $\langle S_0^z \rangle = 0$ ) or on an environment spin, with the different lines starting at  $\langle S_0^z \rangle = -1$  illustrating the *L* different initial states. (b) Dynamics of the environment spin magnetization  $S_j^z$  for an excitation initially localized on site *j*. *Parameters:* L = 12,  $\omega_0 = 2$ , and  $\tilde{g}_j$  is uniformly distributed in the interval [1,2] for environment spins with  $s_j = 1/2$ .

which holds for both bright states  $|\kappa_{\pm}\rangle$ . The resulting central spin dynamics immediately follows as

$$\langle S_0^z(t)\rangle = -\frac{\overline{g}^2}{\omega_0^2/4 + 2\overline{g}^2} \left[ 1 - \cos\left(2t\sqrt{\omega_0^2/4 + 2\overline{g}^2}\right) \right]. \tag{66}$$

This result is illustrated in Fig. 4 and is identical to the dynamics in the homogeneous model (30) with interaction strength  $g = \overline{g}/\sqrt{2J}$  and environment spin  $J = \sum_{j=1}^{L} s_j$ . Crucially, the amplitude of the central spin oscillation remains finite in the limit  $L \to \infty$  provided  $\overline{g}^2$  remains finite. The nonvanishing amplitude of the oscillation is a direct consequence of the semilocalized nature of the bright states: the overlap between the initial state and the two bright states remains  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  in this limit.

This finite amplitude oscillation can be contrasted with the central spin dynamics for an initial product state localized on an environment spin. The amplitude of the central spin oscillations is set by  $\langle \psi_0 | \kappa_- \rangle \langle \kappa_+ | \psi_0 \rangle$  and hence by the component  $\psi_j$  from Eq. (60) for an initial excitation localized on spin *j*. The individual overlaps scale as  $\mathcal{O}(1/\sqrt{L})$ , such that the total amplitude of the spin oscillations will scale as  $\mathcal{O}(1/L)$ . As illustrated in Fig. 4(a) and Fig. 5(a), central spin oscillations are indeed suppressed for states initially localized in the environment.

A similar behavior is observed in the dynamics of the environment spin polarizations  $\langle S_j^z(t) \rangle$  for an excitation initially localized on spin *i*. Since the dark states are no longer eigenstates of the observable these will also contribute to the dynamics, and the spins will oscillate with three frequencies

$$\kappa_{+} - \kappa_{-} = 2\sqrt{\omega_{0}^{2}/4 + 2\overline{g}^{2}}, \qquad \kappa_{\pm} + \omega_{0} = \omega_{0}/2 \pm \sqrt{\omega_{0}^{2}/4 + 2\overline{g}^{2}}.$$
 (67)

The dynamics is illustrated in Fig. 4(b). Note that the frequencies are generally not commensurate, but the spin dynamics may exhibit *approximate* revivals whenever the two frequencies  $\kappa_{\pm} + \omega$  are close to being commensurate (in which case the third frequency  $\kappa_{+} - \kappa_{-} = (\kappa_{+} + \omega) - (\kappa_{-} + \omega)$  is also close to being commensurate), as apparent in Fig. 4(b). The revivals become exact in the special case of quenches to resonance ( $\omega_{0} = 0$ ), in which case the three frequencies reduce to two commensurate frequencies,  $\sqrt{2\overline{g}^{2}}$  and  $2\sqrt{2\overline{g}^{2}}$ . In this scenario the environment spins oscillate periodically with a frequency that is half the oscillation frequency of the central spin, as illustrated in Fig. 5(b).



Figure 5: Quench dynamics in single-excitation sector for a quench to resonance  $(\omega_0 = 0)$ . (a) Dynamics of the central spin magnetization  $S_0^z$  for an initial product state that is either localized on the central spin (line starting at  $\langle S_0^z \rangle = 0$ ) or on an environment spin, with the different lines starting at  $\langle S_0^z \rangle = -1$  illustrating the *L* different initial states. (b) Dynamics of the environment spin magnetization  $S_j^z$  for an excitation initially localized on site *j*. *Parameters:* L = 12, and  $\tilde{g}_j$  is uniformly distributed in the interval [1,2] for environment spins with  $s_j = 1/2$ .

In all cases, the amplitude of these oscillations scales as  $\mathcal{O}(1/L)$ . This scaling can be understood by noting that  $\sum_{j=1}^{L} \langle \psi_0 | S_j^z(t) | \psi_0 \rangle = 1 - \langle \psi_0 | S_0^z(t) | \psi_0 \rangle$ , with the right-hand side being  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ . Because of the delocalization in the environment all contributions to the summation are on the same order, leading to the observed  $\mathcal{O}(1/L)$  scaling.

To summarize, we note that (semi)localization of the eigenstates can be observed through measurements of the central spin polarization. In an initial state that is supported on the localized component of the bright state (i.e. on the central spin)  $\langle S_0^z \rangle$  will oscillate with an amplitude that does not vanish as the system size goes to infinity. This highly non-thermal behavior can be contrasted with the behavior of initial states that are supported on the delocalized environment spins, which exhibit oscillations that vanish as  $L \to \infty$ .

# 7 Quenches to resonance with an unpolarized environment

In this section we consider generic quenches to resonance and use the known structure of the eigenstates to show that central spin observables do not relax to thermal equilibrium. Specifically, we consider

$$S_0^z, \qquad P_0 = 1 - (S_0^z)^2, \qquad P_{\pm 1} = \frac{(S_0^z)^2 \pm S_0^z}{2}, \tag{68}$$

with the latter two corresponding to projectors on central spin states  $|0\rangle_0$  and  $|\pm 1\rangle_0$  respectively.

While exact predictions in the inhomogeneous model are currently out of reach, we show that, for not too strong inhomogeneities, the late-time expectation values in the inhomogeneous model are well approximated by the diagonal ensemble expectation values in the homogeneous model. We refer to this approximation as the *homogeneous dephasing approximation* (HDA). Inhomogeneity in the couplings breaks the degeneracy of states in the homogeneous model, causing dephasing between formerly degenerate eigenstates. Meanwhile, the matrix elements of central spin observables between eigenstates are not significantly affected. A similar approximation was used in Ref. [75] for a nonintegrable Ising model in a *many-particle dephasing* regime. The HDA ignores any change to said matrix elements, and only accounts for dephasing.



Figure 6: Eigenstate expectation values of: (a)  $P_1$  and (b)  $P_0$  (the projectors on central1 spin states as defined in Eq. (68)), (c) the central spin polarization  $S_0^z$ , and (d) the total environment spin  $J^2$  (defined in Eq. (31)). The expectation values from the inhomogeneous model are plotted as dots, while those in the homogeneous limit are plotted as open squares. The energy eigenvalues  $\{e_m\}$  are rescaled to lie between  $\pm 1$ . The plots show that upon introducing inhomogeneities in the XX couplings, the expectation values of central spin and environmental observables in eigenstates of the inhomogeneous model retain the overall structure and can be approximated by the corresponding values in the homogeneous model. *Parameters:* L = 12,  $\omega_0 = 10^{-10}$ ,  $g_i$  uniformly distributed in the interval  $\pi/3 + [-0.5, 0.5]$ , and M = 1.

Depending on the initial state and measured observable we can systematically probe the effect of bright states, both triple and double, as well as dark states. Specifically, we consider an initial state where the central spin is polarized in the state  $|m_0\rangle_0$ , the environment (which we again take to consist of spin-1/2 particles) is at infinite temperature in a fixed magnetization sector  $M_E = M - m_0$ , and the total magnetization<sup>3</sup> M = 1. The initial density matrix can be written as

$$\rho(t=0) = P_{m_0} \otimes \frac{\mathbb{1}_{M_E}}{\mathcal{Z}_E}, \quad \text{with} \quad \mathcal{Z}_E = \text{Tr}(\mathbb{1}_{M_E}) = \binom{L}{L/2 - M_E}.$$
(69)

Here  $\mathbb{1}_{M_E}$  acts as the identity on states with magnetization  $M_E$  and as zero everywhere else. For convenience we take *L*, the number of environment spins, to be even.

### 7.1 Prediction of late-time values under the HDA

The HDA simplifies the prediction for late-time values of central spin observables by circumventing the use of the Bethe Ansatz solution, which is mathematically cumbersome. Within the diagonal ensemble, the late-time values of all projectors are determined by their overlaps with the eigenstates in the inhomogeneous model. Under the HDA, these overlaps are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>We are interested in probing the dark states, which are only supported in sectors with  $M \neq 0$ .

approximated by those with the corresponding states in the homogeneous model. This approximation can be justified by numerically comparing the expectation values of projectors in the homogeneous model with those of the inhomogeneous model. Fig. 6 shows that the eigenstate expectation values of  $P_0$ ,  $P_1$ ,  $S_0^z$  and  $J^2$  in the inhomogeneous model have small spread around the homogeneous limit.

**Initial state**  $m_0 = 0$ . We first consider the case where  $m_0 = 0$  and hence  $M_E = M$ . The initial density matrix is only nonvanishing in the triple bright state manifold (36). The diagonal values are equal  $\langle \mathcal{B} | \rho(t = 0) | \mathcal{B} \rangle = 1/2$ , as the triple states have half their weight on states with central spin value 0. The diagonal ensemble (obtained by setting the off-diagonal elements in the triple bright basis to zero) is thus

$$\rho_{\rm DE} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{Z}_E} \sum_{\mathcal{B}} \langle \mathcal{B} | \rho(t=0) | \mathcal{B} \rangle | \mathcal{B} \rangle \langle \mathcal{B} | = \frac{1}{2\mathcal{Z}_E} \sum_{\mathcal{B}} | \mathcal{B} \rangle \langle \mathcal{B} | .$$
(70)

The property  $\langle \mathcal{B} | P_0 | \mathcal{B} \rangle = 1/2$  also implies that the long-time expectation value of  $P_0$  is

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(t \to \infty)P_0] = \frac{1}{2\mathcal{Z}_E} \sum_{\mathcal{B}} \langle \mathcal{B} | P_0 | \mathcal{B} \rangle = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad (71)$$

where we further used that the total number of triple bright states is  $2\mathcal{Z}_E$ .

Under the HDA, we find for the projectors on central spin  $\pm 1$  that (see Appendix B)

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(t \to \infty)P_{\pm 1}] = \frac{1}{\mathcal{Z}_E} \sum_{J=|M|}^{L/2} C\left(\frac{L}{2} + J, \frac{L}{2} - J\right) \left(\frac{(c_{J,M}^{\mp})^2}{4(J^2 + J - M^2)}\right)$$
(72)

$$\approx \frac{1}{4} \left( 1 \pm \frac{8M}{L+2M} \right),\tag{73}$$

where

$$C\left(\frac{L}{2}+J,\frac{L}{2}-J\right) = \binom{L}{L/2-J} - \binom{L}{L/2-J-1}$$
(74)

is the degeneracy of environment states with spin *J*, and Eq. (73) follows from Stirling's approximation in the limit  $L \gg |M|$  (far away from the single-excitation limit).

Initial state  $m_0 = -1$ . For M > 0 (such that all dark state have central spin  $|+1\rangle_0$ ), the initial state has overlap with both the double and triple bright states, but not with the dark states. In this case, the HDA gives:

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(t \to \infty)P_0] = \frac{1}{\mathcal{Z}_E} \sum_{J=|M|}^{L/2} C\left(\frac{L}{2} + J, \frac{L}{2} - J\right) \left(\frac{(c_{J,M}^+)^2}{4(J^2 + J - M^2)}\right)$$
(75)

$$\approx \frac{e^{\frac{4M+2}{L}}}{4} \left( 1 - \frac{8M}{L+2M} \right),\tag{76}$$

where the approximation on the second line again holds in the limit  $L \gg |M|$ . The additional exponential factor arises from the environment sector  $M_E = M + 1$ .

For the projectors on the central spin states  $|\pm 1\rangle_0$  we similarly find

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(t \to \infty)P_{1}] = \frac{2}{\mathcal{Z}_{E}} \sum_{J=|M|}^{L/2} C\left(\frac{L}{2} + J, \frac{L}{2} - J\right) \left(\frac{(c_{J,M}^{+})^{2}(c_{J,M}^{-})^{2}}{4^{2}(J^{2} + J - M^{2})^{2}}\right) + \frac{1}{\mathcal{Z}_{E}} \sum_{J=|M|+1}^{L/2} C\left(\frac{L}{2} + J, \frac{L}{2} - J\right) \left(\frac{(c_{J,M}^{+})^{2}(c_{J,M}^{-})^{2}}{2^{2}(J^{2} + J - M^{2})^{2}}\right)$$
(77)
$$\approx \frac{3e^{\frac{4M+2}{L}}}{8} \left(1 - \frac{8M}{L + 2M}\right),$$
(78)



Figure 7: Quench dynamics for (a)  $\text{Tr}[\rho(t)P_0]$  and (b)  $\text{Tr}[\rho(t)P_{-1}]$ . The dashed lines indicate the long-time values predicted by the HDA for different values of the initial central spin magnetization  $m_0$ . The projectors relax to their corresponding HDA values (dashed lines), whereas in the Gibbs ensemble all solid lines would converge to a single value in the limit  $L \gg |M|$ . *Parameters:* L = 10,  $\omega_0 = 10^{-10}$ ,  $g_j \in \pi/3 + [-0.5, 0.5]$ , M = 1,  $\tau = (\sum_{j=1}^{L} g_j^2)^{-1/2}$ .

and

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(t \to \infty)P_{-1}] \approx \frac{e^{\frac{4M+2}{L}}}{8} \left(1 - \frac{8M}{L+2M}\right) + \frac{1}{4} \left[1 + \frac{8(M+1)}{L+2(M+1)} \left(\frac{2M}{3M+2} + \frac{M^2}{(3M+2)^2}\right)\right].$$
(79)

**Initial state**  $m_0 = +1$ . For M > 0, the dark states contribute to the quench dynamics. Following the same steps as above, the late-time values are, for  $L \gg |M|$ ,

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(t \to \infty)P_0] \approx \frac{e^{\frac{4M-2}{L}}}{4} \left(1 + \frac{8M}{L+2M}\right),\tag{80}$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(t \to \infty)P_{-1}] \approx \frac{3e^{\frac{M-2}{L}}}{8} \left(1 - \frac{8M}{L+2M}\right),\tag{81}$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho(t \to \infty)P_{1}] \approx \frac{e^{-\frac{M}{L}}}{8} \left(1 + 3\frac{8M}{L + 2M}\right) + \frac{e^{-\frac{8M}{L}}}{4} \left[1 + \frac{8(M+1)}{L + 2(M+1)} \left(-\frac{2M}{3M + 2} + \frac{M^{2}}{(3M + 2)^{2}}\right)\right] + \frac{4M - 2}{L + 2M}.$$
(82)

The expressions above demonstrate that under the HDA, the late-time values of central spin observables retain memory of the initial state  $m_0$ . In contrast, the maximally mixed Gibbs ensemble in a fixed M sector predicts the same late-time values for each central spin projector  $P_{0,\pm 1}$ , regardless of initial state<sup>4</sup> (up to  $\mathcal{O}(|M|/L)$  corrections). For instance, in the limit  $L \gg |M|$ , we find that  $\text{Tr}[\rho(t \to \infty)P_0]$  approaches 1/4 for  $m_0 = \pm 1$  and 1/2 for  $m_0 = 0$ , clearly differing from the Gibbs prediction of 1/3.

#### 7.2 Comparison with the inhomogeneous model

We can now compare the theoretical predictions in Sec. 7.1 with numerical results for the inhomogeneous model. In the case where  $m_0 = 0$ , the HDA prediction (71) applies exactly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The energy of the initial state is given by  $\omega_0 m_0$ . However,  $\omega_0 = 0$  in a quench to resonance, hence the energy is always 0 and the use of the maximally mixed Gibbs ensemble is justified.



Figure 8: (a) Quench dynamics for  $\langle S_0^z(t) \rangle$  for different initial values of  $m_0$ . The dotted line shows the value predicted by the Gibbs ensemble (83). (b) Expected late-time polarization under the HDA as a function of *L* as compared to the Gibbs prediction (dotted line). Only the  $m_0 = 1$  line has the same slope as the dotted line ( $\approx 2.5/L$ ) at large *L*. Parameters: L = 10 (for (a)),  $\omega_0 = 10^{-10}$ ,  $g_j \in \pi/3 + [-0.5, 0.5]$ , M = 1,  $\tau = (\sum_{j=1}^{L} g_j^2)^{-1/2}$  (for both (a) and (b)).

This is because the initial density matrix is only non-vanishing in the triple state manifold (49), which has exactly the same weight on  $|0\rangle_0$  and counting as the triple states in the homogeneous model.

Otherwise, the late-time values in the diagonal ensemble are different between the inhomogeneous and homogeneous models. Nonetheless, late-time values of central spin observables are well approximated by the HDA. These approximations are compared with numerical results for the inhomogeneous model in Fig. 7. In all cases the diagonal ensemble from the homogeneous model accurately reproduces the steady-state value of the inhomogeneous model. Furthermore, the late-time values for different initial states  $m_0$  are clearly different.

Fig. 8(a) shows the corresponding dynamics of  $\langle S_0^z(t) \rangle$ . Crucially, in a given total magnetization sector *M*, the late-time expectation values heavily depend on the initial value of the central spin  $m_0$  and differ from the Gibbs ensemble prediction, which can be calculated as

$$\frac{\sum_{M_E=M-1}^{M+1} (M-M_E) \mathcal{Z}_E}{\sum_{M_E=M-1}^{M+1} \mathcal{Z}_E} = \mathcal{O}(1/L).$$
(83)

This scaling with *L* can be contrasted with the numerically observed scaling of  $\langle S_0^z \rangle_{\text{HDA}}$ , as illustrated in Fig. 8 (b). While the  $m_0 = +1$  curve shows the 1/L scaling from the Gibbs predictions, the  $m_0 = 0$  and  $m_0 = -1$  curves show different scaling exponents, approximately given by  $L^{-0.8}$  and  $L^{-0.7}$  respectively.

In the case where the initial environment does not have a fixed magnetization and is at infinite temperature, i.e.  $\rho_E \propto 1$ , one can also perform similar calculations for all *M* sectors and perform a weighted average. The resulting long-time values for the polarization follow as  $\langle S_0^z \rangle_{\text{HDA}} = \mathcal{O}(1/\sqrt{L})$  for  $L \to \infty$  as illustrated in Fig. 9(d). We note that this result is consistent with numerical results in the classical model (Fig. 11 in Appendix C.2), and inconsistent with the Gibbs prediction (83).

These results show that even in highly excited states, the integrability of the inhomogeneous model can be detected by the remnant memory of the initial state  $m_0$  in late-time central spin observables.

# 8 Conclusion and discussion

We have established the integrability of the spin-1 central spin XX model by providing the exact construction of Bethe eigenstates and the extensive set of conserved charges, extending the results in Ref. [31] for the spin-1/2 central spin XX model. Like the spin-1/2 model, the eigenstates in the spin-1 model can be broadly classified into dark states and bright states, with the bright states showing *semilocalization* [49, 74] in the single-excitation sector. Unlike the spin-1/2 model, bright states in the spin-1 model on resonance can further be classified into double or triple bright states.

The eigenstate structure of the spin-1 model prevents the central spin from reaching thermal equilibrium in quenches to resonance. In particular, for weakly inhomogeneous couplings, the late-time values of central spin observables approach diagonal ensemble expectation values in the homogeneous models. We expect this can be observed experimentally. Based on our numerical results, the time required to reach these late-time values is on the order of  $10\tau$ , where  $\tau = (\sum_{j=1}^{L} g_j^2)^{-1/2}$ . This is within the range of the spin relaxation time  $T_1$  in NV systems, which limits the measurement of central spin observables in the *z* basis. Indeed, the relaxation time we estimate as  $10\tau$  is essentially the dephasing time  $T_2$ , which can be much shorter than  $T_1$ . For instance, at room temperature,  $T_1$  has been observed to exceed 1 ms [76], while Ref. [77] recently measured  $T_2 \approx 1 \mu s$ .

In Appendix C, we have provided three pieces of evidence that support the integrability of the XX central spin model for any value of central spin  $s_0$ . First, numerical calculations of level spacing ratios in the spin-3/2 model show Poisson level statistics, as expected of integrable models. Second, the effective Hamiltonian at large  $\omega_0$  for arbitrary  $s_0$  is integrable. Third, numerical simulations of the fully classical model  $(s_0, s_j \rightarrow \infty)$  show residual memory in the late-time central spin magnetization, supporting integrability of the classical equations of motion. Within the truncated Wigner approximation, said classical equations govern dynamics for any value of  $s_0$  [46, 47]. An obvious future direction is to rigorously establish integrability at any  $s_0$ .

Other technical questions remain open. While the conserved charges in the spin-1 central spin XX model are closely related those of the XXZ Richardson-Gaudin integrable models, it is unclear how to incorporate them into the general framework of Richardson-Gaudin integrability. Another challenge remains to directly understand in which way the conserved charges constrain, for example, late-time observables in dynamical experiments.

# Acknowledgements

The authors thank H. Katsura, T. Skrypnyk, and A. O. Sushkov for helpful discussions and comments.

**Funding information** This work was supported by: NSF Grant No. DMR-1752759, AFOSR Grant No. FA9550-20-1-0235 (L.H.T., D.M.L. and A.C.); NSF Grant No. DMR-2103658, and AFOSR Grant No. FA9550-21-1-0342 (A.P.). A.C. and D.M.L. acknowledge the hospitality of MPI-PKS during July and August 2022 as part of the institute's visitors program. Numerical work was performed on the BU Shared Computing Cluster, using QUSPIN [78, 79].

# A Counting of states in the resonant homogeneous model

In this section, we provide the counting of the three classes of states (dark, double and triple bright states) in the homogeneous model on resonance.

The degeneracy of every eigenvalue is set by the total number of ways in which the *L* environment spins can be combined to form a total spin *J*. We now focus on the case where each environmental spin is spin-1/2. For a given *M*, *J* can then take integer values ranging from  $J = J_{\min} = \max(0, |M| - 1)$  to a maximal value of *L*/2. Each of the spin-*J* irreducible representations has multiplicities given by entries in Catalan's triangle

$$C\left(\frac{L}{2}+J,\frac{L}{2}-J\right) = \binom{L}{L/2-J} - \binom{L}{L/2-J-1}.$$
(A.1)

Dark states reside in the  $J_{\min}$  sector. Thus, for a fixed total magnetization  $M \neq 0$ , the degeneracy of the dark states immediately follows as

$$N_{\text{dark}} = C \left( L/2 + |M| - 1, L/2 - |M| + 1 \right).$$
(A.2)

For bright states, the total number of double states is given by

$$N_{\text{double}} = \sum_{J=|M|+1}^{L/2} C\left(\frac{L}{2} + J, \frac{L}{2} - J\right) = \binom{L}{L/2 - |M| - 1},$$
(A.3)

in  $M \neq 0$  sectors. The triple states are allowed in  $J \ge |M|$  for  $|M| \ne 0$ , leading to

$$N_{\text{triple}} = 2\sum_{J=|M|}^{L/2} C\left(\frac{L}{2} + J, \frac{L}{2} - J\right) = 2\binom{L}{L/2 - |M|} = 2\binom{L}{L/2 + |M|}.$$
 (A.4)

It is easily checked that the total number of dark and (double and triple) bright states leads to the expected number of eigenstates in each magnetization sector.

For a given  $M \neq 0$  sector, the ratio of the number of double states to that of the triple states is given by

$$\frac{N_{\text{double}}}{N_{\text{triple}}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{L/2 - |M|}{L/2 + |M| + 1} \approx \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - 4 \frac{|M|}{L} \right), \tag{A.5}$$

remaining finite in the limit of large L. The ratio of the number of dark states to that of the triple states is given by

$$\frac{N_{\text{dark}}}{N_{\text{triple}}} = \frac{2|M| - 1}{L - 2|M| + 2}.$$
(A.6)

In all cases, each class of states spans a nonvanishing fraction of the Hilbert space in the thermodynamic limit  $L \to \infty$  provided |M| scales with *L*. Keeping |M| fixed and increasing *L*, the fraction of dark states vanishes as O(1/L).

For M = 0, the number of J = 0 dark states is given by C(L/2, L/2). The number of double states is given by

$$N_{\text{double}} = \sum_{J=1}^{L/2} C\left(\frac{L}{2} + J, \frac{L}{2} - J\right) = \binom{L}{L/2 - 1},$$
(A.7)

in the M = 0 sector. There are triple states in the  $J \ge 1$  sectors, resulting in

$$N_{\text{triple}} = 2\sum_{J=1}^{L/2} C\left(\frac{L}{2} + J, \frac{L}{2} - J\right) = 2\binom{L}{L/2 - 1} = 2\binom{L}{L/2 + 1}.$$
 (A.8)

The ratio  $N_{\text{double}}/N_{\text{triple}}$  in this sector is exactly 1/2, while

$$\frac{N_{\text{dark}}}{N_{\text{triple}}} = \frac{1}{L} \,. \tag{A.9}$$



Figure 9: Quenches to resonance for a fully mixed environment. The HDA expectation values of the central spin projectors  $P_{\sigma_0}$ , where  $\sigma_0 = 0, \pm 1$  for initial states (**a**)  $m_0 = 1$ , (**b**)  $m_0 = -1$ , and (**c**)  $m_0 = 0$  in the M = 1 sector as a function of L. The colored dash-dotted lines show the corresponding values under the Stirling approximation. (**d**) The expected remanent polarization averaged over all M sectors when  $|m_0| = 1$ . Values computed with the exact expressions are plotted as stars, while those computed in the Stirling approximation are plotted as a dashed line. The solid line corresponds to  $|\langle S_0^z \rangle_{\text{HDA}}| \propto L^{-1/2}$ . Parameters:  $\omega_0 = 10^{-10}$ .

# B Expectation values at large system size under the HDA

In this section we detail the approximations used in evaluating the summations for the diagonal ensemble expectation values in the homogeneous model. In the limit where  $J \ll L$ , Stirling's approximation gives

$$C\left(\frac{L}{2}+J,\frac{L}{2}-J\right) \approx \frac{2J+1}{L/2+J+1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi L}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1/4-(J/L)^2}} e^{Lf(1/2-J/L)},$$
(B.1)

where

$$f(p) = -p \log p - (1-p) \log(1-p).$$
(B.2)

Similarly, when  $M_E \ll L$ , the same approximation can be used for the ratio

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{Z}_{E}}C\left(\frac{L}{2}+J,\frac{L}{2}-J\right) \approx \frac{2J+1}{L/2+J+1} \sqrt{\frac{L^{2}-4M_{E}^{2}}{L^{2}-4J^{2}}} \exp\left\{\frac{2(M_{E}^{2}-J^{2})}{L}\right\}$$

$$\approx \frac{2J}{L/2+J} \exp\left\{\frac{2(M_{E}^{2}-J^{2})}{L}\right\},$$
(B.3)

to leading order in J. Evaluating diagonal ensemble expectation values involves summations of the form

$$\sum_{J=M_0}^{L/2} \left[ \frac{M}{J^2 + J - M^2} \right]^p \frac{1}{\mathcal{Z}_E} C\left(\frac{L}{2} + J, \frac{L}{2} - J\right), \tag{B.4}$$

where *p* is a non-negative integer. In all these cases, the summands are dominated by the smallest *J*, i.e.  $M_0$ . The summation may be approximated by substituting  $J = M_0$  into the expression for the summand and multiply it by an O(1) factor to capture the entire sum. This factor can be extracted by comparing the sum to the summand for specific values of *M*,  $M_0$ ,  $M_E$  and (large) *L*. We find that multiplying the summand by a factor of 4 gives the overall best fit to the exact sum. This results in

$$\left[\frac{M}{M_0^2 + M_0 - M^2}\right]^p \frac{8M_0}{L/2 + M_0} \exp\left\{\frac{2(M_E^2 - M_0^2)}{L}\right\}.$$
(B.5)

For instance, substituting  $M_0 = M_E = M$ , p = 1, we recover one of the terms in (73). Figs. 9(a), (b) and (c) compare the HDA expectation values evaluated exactly and their respective approximations outlined in Sec. 7.1. They agree at large *L*.

# C Integrability in higher spin models

Motivated by the results from the main text, we conjecture that the central spin Hamiltonian

$$H = \omega_0 S_0^z + \left(S_0^- G^+ + S_0^+ G^-\right) \tag{C.1}$$

is integrable for any central spin quantum number  $s_0$ . The integrability of this model has already been explicitly shown for  $s_0 = 1/2$  in Ref. [31], and for  $s_0 = 1$  in this work.

As a first numerical check, we consider the central spin-3/2 model and calculate the spectral statistics, a widespread numerical check for integrability. For an ordered eigenvalue spectrum  $\{E_n\}$  with eigenvalue spacing  $s_n = E_{n+1} - E_n$  we consider the distribution of the level spacing ratio,  $\tilde{r}_n = \min(s_n, s_{n+1})/\max(s_n, s_{n+1})$ . This level spacing ratio is expected to obey different universal distributions in integrable and chaotic systems [80]. Due to the presence of dark states there will be a large number of states for which  $s_n = 0$ , which are here excluded from the statistics. Numerical results are presented in Fig. 10. The level spacing ratio agrees with the Poissonian prediction for integrable systems and clearly differs from the GOE prediction expected for chaotic systems.

We support our conjecture through two additional pieces of evidence: perturbative conserved charges for *H* in the limit of large  $\omega_0$  (Appendix C.1), and numerical signatures of integrability in the classical limit of  $s_0, s_j \rightarrow \infty$  (Appendix C.2). We also present a semi-classical argument for integrability, assuming exactness of the truncated Wigner approximation.

If the central spin Hamiltonian is integrable for all  $s_0$ , then it is likely that the related inhomogeneous Tavis-Cummings model (with off-diagonal disorder),

$$H_{\rm TC} = \omega_0 a^{\dagger} a + \left( a^{\dagger} G^- + a G^+ \right) \tag{C.2}$$

is also integrable. In Appendix C.3, we expand on this additional conjecture.

#### C.1 Conserved charges far from resonance

A Schrieffer-Wolff transformation to *H* in the  $\omega_0 \rightarrow \infty$  limit provides an effective Hamiltonian (25)

$$H_{\rm eff}^{(1)} = \omega_0 S_0^z + \frac{1}{\omega_0} \left( S_0^+ S_0^- G^- G^+ - S_0^- S_0^+ G^+ G^- \right), \tag{C.3}$$



Figure 10: Distribution of the level spacing ratio  $\tilde{r}_n$  for the central spin-3/2 model. *Parameters:* L = 14, M = 1/2,  $\omega_0 = 2$ , and  $g_j$  is uniformly distributed in the interval [1,2]/L for environment spins with  $s_j = 1/2$ .

for any value of the central spin  $s_0$ . This Hamiltonian may be written as

$$\omega_0 S_0^z + H(\alpha) = \omega_0 S_0^z + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} G^+ G^- + \frac{1-\alpha}{2} G^- G^+, \qquad (C.4)$$

where  $H(\alpha)$  is a factorizable Hamiltonian from Eq. (15) and

$$\alpha = -\frac{1}{\omega_0} (S_0^- S_0^+ + S_0^+ S_0^-) \tag{C.5}$$

commutes with  $S_0^z$ , and so may be treated as a scalar in each  $S_0^z$  sector. Thus, in each sector,  $H_{\text{eff}}^{(1)}$  is Richardson-Gaudin integrable and has an extensive set of conserved charges given by  $Q_j(\alpha)$  (16). Combined with the fact that both the  $s_0 = 1/2$  and  $s_0 = 1$  cases are known to be integrable, the existence of this integrable limit is suggestive of integrability for any  $s_0$ .

Higher-order corrections to the effective Hamiltonian may also be computed, though it is unclear if they preserve integrability. We discuss them here for completeness and only note some connections with known integrable models.

The next correction to the effective Hamiltonian (at  $O(g^4)$ ) is given by

Evaluating these corrections in a sector with fixed  $s_0$  and  $m_0$  results in linear combinations of four different operators,

$$G^{-}G^{+}G^{-}G^{+}, \quad G^{+}G^{-}G^{+}G^{-}, \quad G^{+}G^{+}G^{-}G^{-}, \quad G^{-}G^{-}G^{+}G^{+},$$
 (C.7)

where all terms of the form  $G^-G^+G^+G^-$  and  $G^+G^-G^-G^+$  cancel out. Each of these operators can again be shown to be Richardson-Gaudin integrable—although this does not guarantee that linear combinations will be integrable.  $G^-G^+G^-G^+ = (G^-G^+)^2$  is the square of a factorizable Hamiltonian, as is  $G^+G^-G^+G^-$ . The terms  $G^{\pm}G^{\pm}G^{\mp}G^{\mp}$  are also each integrable. To

see this, we use the following generalization of a relation between Richardson-Gaudin charges introduced below Eq. (29),

$$(G^{+})^{k} \left[ (k+1)Q_{j}^{(-)} - (k-1)Q_{j}^{(+)} \right] = \left[ (k+1)Q_{j}^{(+)} - (k-1)Q_{j}^{(-)} \right] (G^{+})^{k}, \qquad (C.8)$$

where  $Q_j^{(\pm)} = Q_j \pm S_j^z$  and  $k \ge 1$  is an integer. From this expression and its Hermitian conjugate, we see that a complete set of conserved charges for, say,  $G^+G^+G^-G^-$  is given by

$$3Q_j^{(+)} - Q_j^{(-)} = 2Q_j + 4S_j^z,$$
 (C.9)

where  $i \in \{1, ..., L\}$ . Similar charges may be constructed for  $G^-G^-G^+G^+$ .

The two quartic terms that drop out in the effective Hamiltonian are the only terms that are not known to be integrable, such that the fact that they cancel out suggests that  $H_{\text{eff}}^{(1)} + H_{\text{eff}}^{(2)}$  is itself integrable. However, this also remains an open question. Nonintegrability of  $H_{\text{eff}}^{(1)} + H_{\text{eff}}^{(2)}$ does not imply that the higher- $s_0$  central spin XX models are nonintegrable—for instance, the same perturbative expansion holds for  $s_0 = 1$ , which is integrable. Of course, conversely, the existence of an integrable limit in a model does not imply that the model is integrable for all parameters. For example, while the Bose-Hubbard model is believed to be nonintegrable, it does possess integrable limits [81, 82]. However, for both the central spin-1/2 and the central spin-1 model the exact conserved charges reduce to the conserved charges of the effective Hamiltonian in the limit  $\omega_0 \to \infty$ , motivating our investigation of the effective Hamiltonian for arbitrary central spin values. As such, the integrability of  $H_{\text{eff}}^{(1)} + H_{\text{eff}}^{(2)}$  appears consistent with the conjecture of integrability and the structure observed in central spin models.

## C.2 Classical limit

Taking  $s_0, s_j \to \infty$  while keeping  $g_j s_0 s_j \sim g_j^{cl}/2$  and  $\omega_0 s_0 \sim \omega_0^{cl}$  finite results in a model which is formally identical to H,

$$H_{\rm cl} = \omega_0^{\rm cl} \tilde{S}_0^z + \sum_{j=1}^L \frac{g_j^{\rm cl}}{2} (\tilde{S}_0^+ \tilde{S}_j^- + \tilde{S}_0^- \tilde{S}_j^+)$$
(C.10)

$$=\omega_{0}^{\text{cl}}\tilde{S}_{0}^{z} + \sum_{j=1}^{L} g_{j}^{\text{cl}}(\tilde{S}_{0}^{x}\tilde{S}_{j}^{x} + \tilde{S}_{0}^{y}\tilde{S}_{j}^{y}), \qquad (C.11)$$

with the spins  $\tilde{S}_0^{\mu}$  and  $\tilde{S}_j^{\mu}$  being *classical* degrees of freedom. If *H* is integrable for all values of  $\omega_0$ ,  $g_j$ ,  $s_0$  and  $s_j$ , it is natural to suspect that this limit model is also integrable. Conversely, integrability of the classical model suggests special structure with  $s_i < \infty$ . In this section, we numerically search for nonergodicity (a consequence of integrability) in the classical model (C.11), which can be simulated efficiently. We note that it is sometimes necessary to include additional corrections to preserve integrability when passing from quantum to classical or vice versa [83,84]. However, the numerics in this section suggests that the classical central spin model does not require such additional corrections in order to result in the nonergodic dynamics expected in integrable models.

Equations of motion for the classical model are defined through Poisson brackets in the usual way:

$$\mathbf{d}_{t}\tilde{S}_{j}^{\mu} = \{\tilde{S}_{j}^{\mu}, H_{c}\}, \quad \text{where} \quad \{\tilde{S}_{j}^{\mu}, \tilde{S}_{k}^{\nu}\} = \delta_{jk}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho}\tilde{S}_{j}^{\rho}, \tag{C.12}$$

where  $\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho}$  is the Levi-Civita tensor and summation over the index  $\rho$  is implied.



Figure 11: (a) The expectation value  $\langle \tilde{S}_0^z(t) \rangle$  (C.14) in a quench to resonance of the classical central spin model (C.11) quickly reaches a steady state limit. (b) Rescaling  $\langle \tilde{S}_0^z(t) \rangle$  by  $\sqrt{L}$  collapses the late-time data, whereas the ergodic prediction scales as 1/L (dashed lines). *Parameters:*  $\langle \tilde{S}_0^z(t) \rangle$  is computed from 200 samples of initial conditions in the integral Eq. (C.14) with  $\omega_0^{cl} = 0$  and  $\tau = (\sum_{j=1}^L (g_j^{cl})^2)^{-1/2}$ .  $\langle \tilde{S}_0^z(t) \rangle$  is further averaged over 200 realizations of  $g_j^{cl}$  drawn independently from a box distribution,  $g_j^{cl} \in \pi/3 + [-0.3, 0.3]$ . In (b),  $\langle \tilde{S}_0^z \rangle$  is additionally averaged within bins of 100 $\tau$  to reduce its oscillatory part. Error bars give one standard error of the mean.

If the central spin is initially aligned along the *z*-axis while the environment is in an infinite temperature state, and a quench to resonance  $\omega_0^{cl} = 0$  is performed, then ergodicity implies a late time average value of the central spin polarization given by

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \mathrm{d}t \, \langle \tilde{S}_0^z(t) \rangle = \frac{1}{L+1} \,. \tag{C.13}$$

Here,

$$\langle \tilde{S}_{0}^{z}(t) \rangle = \int \left( \prod_{j=0}^{L} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2} \tilde{S}_{j}(0)}{4\pi^{2}} \right) 4\pi^{2} \delta(\tilde{S}_{0}^{z}(0) - 1) \tilde{S}_{0}^{z}(t)$$
(C.14)

is the average of  $\tilde{S}_0^z(t)$  over an ensemble of initial states with a fixed central spin state, and an infinite temperature environment.

Fig. 11 demonstrates that the late time average value of  $\langle \tilde{S}_0^z(t) \rangle$  is not 1/(L+1). Instead, the late time value decreases more slowly with *L*, as

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \mathrm{d}t \, \langle \tilde{S}_0^z(t) \rangle = \mathcal{O}\left(1/\sqrt{L}\right),\tag{C.15}$$

numerically demonstrating nonergodicity.

The  $1/\sqrt{L}$  scaling of the remanent magnetization is also a feature of the spin-1 model (see Fig. 8). That the same phenomenology persists in the classical limit favors the hypothesis of integrability of the classical model.

Integrability of the quantum model at any values of the central spin, including the classical large  $s_0, s_j$  limit, also follows from semiclassical considerations. Namely, for this system one can anticipate that the truncated Wigner approximation (TWA) [46, 47] accurately describes dynamics in the large *L* limit for any values of the central and environment spins  $s_0, s_j$ . This feature is general for all large *L*-models with long range interactions, where classical dynamics governed by Eq. (C.12) emerges as a saddle point within the path integral formulation of the Heisenberg evolution on a Schwinger-Keldysh contour (see for example Refs. [85–87]). Within

the TWA the values of the spins are encoded in the Wigner function representing the initial state. Because the spin-1/2 or spin-1 systems are integrable, Eqs. (C.12)—which are expected to describe dynamics of the central spin in the large *L* limit—must be non-ergodic as well to avoid thermalization. Because these equations are independent of the spin quantum numbers, we can anticipate that integrability holds for all values of  $s_0, s_j$ .

These qualitative considerations cannot be viewed as a proof of integrability, as in general the limits  $L \to \infty$  and  $t \to \infty$  do not commute, and the TWA is expected to be accurate in the limit  $L \to \infty$  first. The opposite limit is much harder to analyze analytically within the TWA and needs further study. Nevertheless, putting these subtleties aside, a combination of analytical and numerical evidence we presented in this paper suggests that the model is integrable in the limit  $s_0 \to \infty$  for any L and is integrable in the limit  $L \to \infty$  for small values of  $s_0 = 1/2, 1$ . Because both of these limits are described by the same semiclassical equations of motion it is natural to assume that the model is integrable for any  $s_0$ .

#### C.3 Inhomogeneous Tavis-Cummings model

Several interesting models may be obtained as limits of *H*. Assuming the integrability of *H* for any values of  $s_0$ ,  $s_j$ ,  $\omega_0$ , and  $g_j$ , it is natural to suspect that the limit models are also integrable. One such model was the classical central spin model of Appendix C.2. Here, we remark upon another notable large  $s_0$  limit, which results in an inhomogeneous Tavis-Cummings model.

Taking an alternative large- $s_0$  limit of  $s_0 \to \infty$  with  $g_j \sqrt{s_0} \sim g_j^{\text{TC}}$  increases the central spin Hilbert space while maintaining its level spacing. The limit model above the ground state may be expressed as an oscillator model,

$$H_{\rm TC} = \omega_0 a^{\dagger} a + \sum_{j=1}^{L} g_j^{\rm TC} (a^{\dagger} S_j^- + a S_j^+).$$
 (C.16)

The Hamiltonian  $H_{TC}$  is a generalization of the Tavis-Cummings model (which is known to be integrable [19, 48]) with inhomogeneous couplings. Due to its connection with the central spin XX model, we conjecture that the inhomogeneous Tavis-Cummings model is also integrable. The Hamiltonian  $H_{TC}$  is known to be integrable when additional non-linear terms are introduced [88], but no *r*-matrix is known for the model without such additional couplings.

The consequence of integrability in the central spin-1 XX model is that the structure of the homogenous limit persists to large inhomogeneity of the couplings. We speculate that this is also the case in the Tavis-Cummings model—the inhomogeneous model continues to exhibit the phenomenology of the homogeneous model, such as a superradiant transition (as expected from mean-field calculations).

## References

- R. Kosloff, Quantum thermodynamics and open-systems modeling, J. Chem. Phys. 150, 204105 (2019), doi:10.1063/1.5096173.
- [2] C. P. Koch, Controlling open quantum systems: Tools, achievements, and limitations, J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 28, 213001 (2016), doi:10.1088/0953-8984/28/21/213001.
- [3] G. de Lange, T. van der Sar, M. Blok, Z.-H. Wang, V. Dobrovitski and R. Hanson, Controlling the quantum dynamics of a mesoscopic spin bath in diamond, Sci. Rep. 2, 382 (2012), doi:10.1038/srep00382.

- [4] J. Cai, A. Retzker, F. Jelezko and M. B. Plenio, *A large-scale quantum simulator on a diamond surface at room temperature*, Nat. Phys. **9**, 168 (2013), doi:10.1038/nphys2519.
- [5] T. Villazon, A. Polkovnikov and A. Chandran, Swift heat transfer by fastforward driving in open quantum systems, Phys. Rev. A 100, 012126 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.100.012126.
- [6] L. Dong et al., Optimal control of a spin bath, Phys. Rev. A 99, 013426 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.99.013426.
- [7] M.-H. Yung, Spin star as a switch for quantum networks, J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 44, 135504 (2011), doi:10.1088/0953-4075/44/13/135504.
- [8] M. C. Tran and J. M. Taylor, *Blind quantum computation using the central spin Hamiltonian*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1801.04006.
- [9] A. O. Sushkov, I. Lovchinsky, N. Chisholm, R. L. Walsworth, H. Park and M. D. Lukin, Magnetic resonance detection of individual proton spins using quantum reporters, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113, 197601 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.197601.
- [10] W.-B. He, S. Chesi, H.-Q. Lin and X.-W. Guan, Exact quantum dynamics of XXZ central spin problems, Phys. Rev. B 99, 174308 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.99.174308.
- [11] M. H. Abobeih et al., One-second coherence for a single electron spin coupled to a multiqubit nuclear-spin environment, Nat. Commun. 9, 2552 (2018), doi:10.1038/s41467-018-04916-z.
- [12] M. H. Abobeih et al., Atomic-scale imaging of a 27-nuclear-spin cluster using a quantum sensor, Nature 576, 411 (2019), doi:10.1038/s41586-019-1834-7.
- [13] R. Hanson, L. P. Kouwenhoven, J. R. Petta, S. Tarucha and L. M. K. Vandersypen, *Spins in few-electron quantum dots*, Rev. Mod. Phys. **79**, 1217 (2007), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.79.1217.
- [14] H. J. Mamin et al., Nanoscale nuclear magnetic resonance with a nitrogen-vacancy spin sensor, Science 339, 557 (2013), doi:10.1126/science.1231540.
- [15] I. Schwartz et al., Robust optical polarization of nuclear spin baths using Hamiltonian engineering of nitrogen-vacancy center quantum dynamics, Sci. Adv. 4, eaat8978 (2018), doi:10.1126/sciadv.aat8978.
- [16] P. London et al., Detecting and polarizing nuclear spins with double resonance on a single electron spin, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 067601 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.067601.
- [17] J. Schliemann, A. Khaetskii and D. Loss, *Electron spin dynamics in quantum dots and related nanostructures due to hyperfine interaction with nuclei*, J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 15, R1809 (2003), doi:10.1088/0953-8984/15/50/R01.
- B. Urbaszek et al., Nuclear spin physics in quantum dots: An optical investigation, Rev. Mod. Phys. 85, 79 (2013), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.85.79.
- [19] M. Tavis and F. W. Cummings, Exact solution for an N-molecule-radiation-field Hamiltonian, Phys. Rev. 170, 379 (1968), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.170.379.

- [20] Y. Kaluzny, P. Goy, M. Gross, J. M. Raimond and S. Haroche, Observation of self-induced Rabi oscillations in two-level atoms excited inside a resonant cavity: The ringing regime of superradiance, Phys. Rev. Lett. 51, 1175 (1983), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.51.1175.
- [21] M. G. Raizen, R. J. Thompson, R. J. Brecha, H. J. Kimble and H. J. Carmichael, Normalmode splitting and linewidth averaging for two-state atoms in an optical cavity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63, 240 (1989), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.63.240.
- [22] H. Walther, B. T. H. Varcoe, B.-G. Englert and T. Becker, *Cavity quantum electrodynamics*, Rep. Prog. Phys. 69, 1325 (2006), doi:10.1088/0034-4885/69/5/R02.
- [23] J. M. Fink et al., Dressed collective qubit states and the Tavis-Cummings model in circuit QED, Phys. Rev. Lett. **103**, 083601 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.083601.
- [24] Z. Zhiqiang et al., *Nonequilibrium phase transition in a spin-1 Dicke model*, Optica **4**, 424 (2017), doi:10.1364/OPTICA.4.000424.
- [25] P. Kirton, M. M. Roses, J. Keeling and E. G. D. Torre, Introduction to the Dicke model: From equilibrium to monequilibrium, and vice versa, Adv. Quantum Technol. 2, 1800043 (2018), doi:10.1002/qute.201800043.
- [26] M. Bortz and J. Stolze, Exact dynamics in the inhomogeneous central-spin model, Phys. Rev. B 76, 014304 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.76.014304.
- [27] A. Faribault, P. Calabrese and J.-S. Caux, Quantum quenches from integrability: The fermionic pairing model, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. P03018 (2009), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2009/03/P03018.
- [28] M. Bortz, S. Eggert, C. Schneider, R. Stübner and J. Stolze, Dynamics and decoherence in the central spin model using exact methods, Phys. Rev. B 82, 161308 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.82.161308.
- [29] A. Faribault and D. Schuricht, Integrability-based analysis of the hyperfine-interactioninduced decoherence in quantum dots, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 040405 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.040405.
- [30] P. W. Claeys, S. De Baerdemacker, O. El Araby and J.-S. Caux, Spin polarization through Floquet resonances in a driven central spin model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 080401 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.080401.
- [31] T. Villazon, A. Chandran and P. W. Claeys, *Integrability and dark states in an anisotropic central spin model*, Phys. Rev. Res. **2**, 032052 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.032052.
- [32] T. Villazon, P. W. Claeys, A. Polkovnikov and A. Chandran, Shortcuts to dynamic polarization, Phys. Rev. B 103, 075118 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.103.075118.
- [33] M. Gaudin, The Bethe wavefunction, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9781107045859 (2014), doi:10.1017/CBO9781107053885.
- [34] J. Dukelsky, S. Pittel and G. Sierra, Colloquium: Exactly solvable Richardson-Gaudin models for many-body quantum systems, Rev. Mod. Phys. 76, 643 (2004), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.76.643.
- [35] S. M. A. Rombouts, J. Dukelsky and G. Ortiz, *Quantum phase diagram of* the integrable  $p_x + ip_y$  fermionic superfluid, Phys. Rev. B **82**, 224510 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.82.224510.

- [36] P. W. Claeys, *Richardson-Gaudin models and broken integrability*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1809.04447.
- [37] S. R. Hartmann and E. L. Hahn, Nuclear double resonance in the rotating frame, Phys. Rev. 128, 2042 (1962), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.128.2042.
- [38] D. Rovnyak, Tutorial on analytic theory for cross-polarization in solid state NMR, Concepts Magn. Reson. 32A, 254 (2008), doi:10.1002/cmr.a.20115.
- [39] D. D. B. Rao, A. Ghosh, D. Gelbwaser-Klimovsky, N. Bar-Gill and G. Kurizki, Spin-bath polarization via disentanglement, New J. Phys. 22, 083035 (2020), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/aba29a.
- [40] P. Fernández-Acebal et al., Toward hyperpolarization of oil molecules via single nitrogen vacancy centers in diamond, Nano Lett. 18, 1882 (2018), doi:10.1021/acs.nanolett.7b05175.
- [41] C. W. Lai, P. Maletinsky, A. Badolato and A. Imamoğlu, Knight-field-enabled nuclear spin polarization in single quantum dots, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 167403 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.96.167403.
- [42] C. Dimo and A. Faribault, Strong-coupling emergence of dark states in XX central spin models, Phys. Rev. B 105, L121404 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.105.L121404.
- [43] P. W. Claeys, C. Dimo, S. De Baerdemacker and A. Faribault, *Integrable spin-<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> Richardson-Gaudin XYZ models in an arbitrary magnetic field*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **52**, 08LT01 (2019), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/aafe9b.
- [44] T. Skrypnyk, *Classical r-matrices, "elliptic" BCS and Gaudin-type Hamiltonians and spectral problem*, Nucl. Phys. B **941**, 225 (2019), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2019.02.018.
- [45] J. M. Taylor, A. Imamoğlu and M. D. Lukin, Controlling a mesoscopic spin environment by quantum bit manipulation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 246802 (2003), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.91.246802.
- [46] M. Hillery, R. F. O'Connell, M. O. Scully and E. P. Wigner, *Distribution functions in physics: Fundamentals*, Phys. Rep. **106**, 121 (1984), doi:10.1016/0370-1573(84)90160-1.
- [47] A. Polkovnikov, Phase space representation of quantum dynamics, Ann. Phys. 325, 1790 (2010), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2010.02.006.
- [48] N. M. Bogoliubov, R. K. Bullough and J. Timonen, Exact solution of generalized Tavis
   Cummings models in quantum optics, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 29, 6305 (1996), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/29/19/015.
- [49] J. Dubail, T. Botzung, J. Schachenmayer, G. Pupillo and D. Hagenmüller, Large random arrowhead matrices: Multifractality, semilocalization, and protected transport in disordered quantum spins coupled to a cavity, Phys. Rev. A 105, 023714 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.105.023714.
- [50] I. Lukyanenko, P. S. Isaac and J. Links, An integrable case of the p+ip pairing Hamiltonian interacting with its environment, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 49, 084001 (2016), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/49/8/084001.
- [51] T. Skrypnyk, Integrable quantum spin chains, non-skew symmetric rmatrices and quasigraded Lie algebras, J. Geom. Phys. 57, 53 (2006), doi:10.1016/j.geomphys.2006.02.002.

# Sci Post

- [52] T. Skrypnyk, Generalized Gaudin systems in a magnetic field and non-skewsymmetric r-matrices, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 40, 13337 (2007), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/40/44/014.
- [53] T. Skrypnyk, Non-skew-symmetric classical r-matrices, algebraic Bethe Ansatz, and Bardeen-Cooper-Schrieffer-type integrable systems, J. Math. Phys. 50, 033504 (2009), doi:10.1063/1.3072912.
- [54] T. Skrypnyk, Non-skew-symmetric classical r-matrices and integrable cases of the reduced BCS model, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 42, 472004 (2009), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/42/47/472004.
- [55] I. Lukyanenko, P. S. Isaac and J. Links, On the boundaries of quantum integrability for the spin-1/2 Richardson-Gaudin system, Nucl. Phys. B 886, 364 (2014), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2014.06.018.
- [56] E. Iyoda, H. Katsura and T. Sagawa, Effective dimension, level statistics, and integrability of Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev-like models, Phys. Rev. D 98, 086020 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.086020.
- [57] J. Dukelsky, C. Esebbag and P. Schuck, *Class of exactly solvable pairing models*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, 066403 (2001), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.87.066403.
- [58] G. Ortiz, R. Somma, J. Dukelsky and S. Rombouts, *Exactly-solvable models derived from a generalized Gaudin algebra*, Nucl. Phys. B 707, 421 (2005), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2004.11.008.
- [59] M. Van Raemdonck, S. De Baerdemacker and D. Van Neck, *Exact solution of the*  $p_x + ip_y$  *pairing Hamiltonian by deforming the pairing algebra*, Phys. Rev. B **89**, 155136 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.89.155136.
- [60] S. Bravyi, D. P. DiVincenzo and D. Loss, Schrieffer-Wolff transformation for quantum manybody systems, Ann. Phys. 326, 2793 (2011), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2011.06.004.
- [61] M. Bukov, M. Kolodrubetz and A. Polkovnikov, Schrieffer-Wolff transformation for periodically driven systems: Strongly correlated systems with artificial gauge fields, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116, 125301 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.125301.
- [62] L. D. Faddeev, How algebraic Bethe Ansatz works for integrable model, in Fifty Years of Mathematical Physics, World Scientific, Singapore, ISBN 9789814340953 (2016), doi:10.1142/9789814340960\_0031.
- [63] J. Links, H.-Q. Zhou, R. H. McKenzie and M. D. Gould, Algebraic Bethe Ansatz method for the exact calculation of energy spectra and form factors: Applications to models of Bose Einstein condensates and metallic nanograins, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 36, R63 (2003), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/36/19/201.
- [64] T. Skrypnyk, On the general solution of the permuted classical Yang-Baxter equation and quasigraded Lie algebras, J. Math. Phys. **63**, 033507 (2022), doi:10.1063/5.0057668.
- [65] T. Skrypnyk, *Elliptic Gaudin-type model in an external magnetic field and modified algebraic Bethe Ansatz*, Nucl. Phys. B **988**, 116102 (2023), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2023.116102.
- [66] A. Imamoğlu, E. Knill, L. Tian and P. Zoller, Optical pumping of quantum-dot nuclear spins, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 017402 (2003), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.91.017402.

- [67] H. Christ, J. I. Cirac and G. Giedke, Nuclear spin polarization in quantum dots – The homogeneous limit, Solid State Sci. 11, 965 (2009), doi:10.1016/j.solidstatesciences.2007.09.027.
- [68] C. Belthangady et al., Dressed-state resonant coupling between bright and dark spins in diamond, Phys. Rev. Lett. **110**, 157601 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.157601.
- [69] N. Wu, X.-W. Guan and J. Links, *Separable and entangled states in the high-spin XX central spin model*, Phys. Rev. B **101**, 155145 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.101.155145.
- [70] J. Links, Completeness of the Bethe states for the rational, spin-1/2 Richardson-Gaudin system, SciPost Phys. 3, 007 (2017), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.3.1.007.
- [71] J. Links, On completeness of Bethe Ansatz solutions for sl(2) Richardson-Gaudin systems, in Physical and mathematical aspects of symmetries, Springer, Cham, Switzerland, ISBN 9783319691633 (2017), doi:10.1007/978-3-319-69164-0 36.
- [72] F. Wegner, *Inverse participation ratio in 2 + \epsilon dimensions*, Z. Phys. B Condens. Matter Quanta **36**, 209 (1980), doi:10.1007/BF01325284.
- [73] F. Evers and A. D. Mirlin, Fluctuations of the inverse participation ratio at the Anderson transition, Phys. Rev. Lett. 84, 3690 (2000), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.84.3690.
- [74] T. Botzung, D. Hagenmüller, S. Schütz, J. Dubail, G. Pupillo and J. Schachenmayer, *Dark state semilocalization of quantum emitters in a cavity*, Phys. Rev. B 102, 144202 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.102.144202.
- [75] T. Kiendl and F. Marquardt, Many-particle dephasing after a quench, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118, 130601 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.130601.
- [76] B. Naydenov et al., Dynamical decoupling of a single-electron spin at room temperature, Phys. Rev. B 83, 081201 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.83.081201.
- [77] K. Rezai, S. Choi, M. D. Lukin and A. O. Sushkov, Probing dynamics of a two-dimensional dipolar spin ensemble using single qubit sensor, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.2207.10688.
- [78] P. Weinberg and M. Bukov, QuSpin: A Python package for dynamics and exact diagonalisation of quantum many body systems part I: Spin chains, SciPost Phys. 2, 003 (2017), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.2.1.003.
- [79] P. Weinberg and M. Bukov, QuSpin: A Python package for dynamics and exact diagonalisation of quantum many body systems. Part II: Bosons, fermions and higher spins, SciPost Phys. 7, 020 (2019), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.7.2.020.
- [80] Y. Y. Atas, E. Bogomolny, O. Giraud and G. Roux, Distribution of the ratio of consecutive level spacings in random matrix ensembles, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 084101 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.084101.
- [81] A. Kundu and O. Ragnisco, A simple lattice version of the nonlinear Schrodinger equation and its deformation with an exact quantum solution, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 27, 6335 (1994), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/27/19/008.
- [82] L. Amico and V. Korepin, *Universality of the one-dimensional Bose gas with delta interaction*, Ann. Phys. **314**, 496 (2004), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2004.08.001.

- [83] A. Chervov, L. Rybnikov and D. Talalaev, *Rational Lax operators and their quantization*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.hep-th/0404106.
- [84] D. Talalaev, *Quantization of the Gaudin system*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.hep-th/0404153.
- [85] J. Schachenmayer, A. Pikovski and A. M. Rey, Many-body quantum spin dynamics with Monte Carlo trajectories on a discrete phase space, Phys. Rev. X 5, 011022 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.5.011022.
- [86] A. Altland, V. Gurarie, T. Kriecherbauer and A. Polkovnikov, Nonadiabaticity and large fluctuations in a many-particle Landau-Zener problem, Phys. Rev. A 79, 042703 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.79.042703.
- [87] S. Pappalardi, A. Polkovnikov and A. Silva, Quantum echo dynamics in the Sherrington-Kirkpatrick model, SciPost Phys. 9, 021 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.9.2.021.
- [88] T. Skrypnyk, Integrable modifications of Dicke and Jaynes-Cummings models, Bose-Hubbard dimers and classical r-matrices, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 43, 205205 (2010), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/43/20/205205.